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GINEBRA SAN MIGUEL INC. 

NOTICE OF THE REGULAR STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 

May 27, 2021 

 

NOTICE is hereby given that the Regular Stockholders’ Meeting (“RSM”) of Ginebra San 

Miguel Inc. (the “Company”) will be held on Thursday, May 27, 2021, at 2:00 P.M, via remote 

communication and livestreamed at the Company’s website:  http://www.ginebrasanmiguel.com. 

Only stockholders of record at the close of business hours on April 19, 2021 are entitled to vote at this 

meeting. 

 

The Agenda of the Meeting is as follows:  

 

1. Certification of Notice and Quorum  

2. Approval of the Minutes of the Regular Stockholders' Meeting held on June 23, 2020 

3. Presentation of the 2020 Annual Report  

4. Ratification of Acts and Proceedings of the Board of Directors and Corporate Officers  

5. Election of Directors  

6. Appointment of External Auditor 

7. Other Matters  

8. Adjournment  

 

An explanation for each agenda item is shown in Appendix 1. 

 

The current COVID-19 global pandemic has brought about health and safety concerns, 

prompting the Company not to hold a physical meeting. As such, attendance to the meeting will be via 

remote communication and questions will be sent only through a dedicated email address.  

Stockholders should access the Company’s website to access the link to view the livestream of the 

meeting which will be available on the day of the meeting. The procedure and further details for 

attending the meeting through remote communication are set forth in Appendix 2.  

 

Votes will be cast only through ballots or proxies. Ballots and proxies may be submitted to 

the Corporate Secretary through email at gsmirsm@ginebra.sanmiguel.com.ph, which shall be 

acknowledged and validated with the assistance of the Company’s stock transfer agent, SMC Stock 

Transfer Service Corporation. Validated ballots and proxies will be considered for purposes of 

determining quorum and voting results. For your convenience, a sample of a ballot/proxy is attached 

as Appendix 3. For an individual, his ballot or proxy must be accompanied by a valid government-

issued identification card with a photo. For a corporation, its proxy must be accompanied by a 

Secretary’s Certificate stating the representative’s authority to represent the corporation in the 

meeting.   In the event that the community quarantine or any of its forms which restricts the 

movement of persons remains, and makes it difficult to obtain notarization of the said certificate at the 

time of submission, the same may be submitted unnotarized. Proxies need not be notarized. Kindly 

submit hard copies of the ballots and proxies and notarized Secretary’s Certificates within a 

reasonable time upon resumption of normal business operations. Stockholders who provide their 

personal information shall be deemed to agree to the collection and processing of their personal 

information in accordance with the Company’s privacy statement for its Regular Stockholders’ 

Meeting posted on its website. 

 

The deadline for the submission of ballots and proxies is on May 10, 2021. Validation of 

ballots and proxies will be on May 14, 2021 at 10:00 a.m. at the SMC Stock Transfer Service 

Corporation Office, 2nd Floor, SMC Head Office Complex, No. 40 San Miguel Ave., Mandaluyong 

City, Philippines.   

 

 

                     Virgilio S. Jacinto 

             Corporate Secretary  

 

http://www.ginebrasanmiguel.com/
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Appendix 1 

 

 

EXPLANATION OF AGENDA ITEMS FOR STOCKHOLDERS’ APPROVAL 

 
 
Approval of the Minutes of the Regular Stockholders' Meeting held on June 23, 2020 

 

A copy of the draft Minutes of the 2020 Regular Stockholders’ Meeting (“Minutes”) of Ginebra San 

Miguel Inc. (the “Company”) was uploaded in the Company’s website, 

http://www.ginebrasanmiguel.com, within five (5) days from the said meeting and may be accessed 

therein. A copy of the Minutes is also attached to this Information Statement. 

 

Presentation of the 2020 Annual Report  

 

A report on the performance of the Company in 2020 (the “Annual Report”) will be presented to the 

stockholders including the financial results and position of the Company. After the presentation of the 

Annual Report, the Company shall entertain questions and comments from the stockholders. 

Questions and comments must be submitted either in advance or during the meeting by email to 

gsmirsm@ginebra.sanmiguel.com.ph. Questions which were not answered during the meeting shall 

be forwarded to the Office of the Corporate Secretary for appropriate responses. 

 

Ratification of Acts and Proceedings of the Board of Directors and Corporate Officers  

 

Ratification by the stockholders will be obtained for all acts, resolutions and proceedings of the Board 

of Directors (the “Board”) and corporate officers of the Company since the Regular Stockholders’ 

Meeting held on June 23, 2020 until May 27, 2021 as reflected in the minutes of the meetings of the 

Board, financial statements, records, reports and disclosures of the Company. 

 

Election of Directors  

 

The profiles of all the nine (9) nominees for election as directors of the Company are included in this 

Information Statement.  

 

As for Minita V. Chico-Nazario, she has been serving the Company as an Independent Director for 

more than nine (9) years. The Company’s Corporate Governance Committee evaluated the 

independence of Director Chico-Nazario and determined that she possesses all the qualifications and 

none of the disqualifications to act as Independent Director of the Company, in accordance with 

Section 2.2.1.6.1 of the GSMI Manual on Corporate Governance, as amended and  approved on May 

25, 2017 (the “CG Manual”), which adopted Recommendation 5.2 of the Code of Corporate 

Governance for Publicly Listed Companies (SEC Memorandum Circular No. 19, Series of 2016).1 

 

In its meeting held on March 10, 2021, the Board, as favorably endorsed and recommended by the 

Company’s Corporate Governance Committee, has agreed to approve and endorse for the vote of the 

stockholders of the Company the re-election of Director Chicco-Nazario as an Independent Director. 

In serving as an Independent Director of the Company, Director Chico-Nazario has brought high 

standards of corporate governance to the Company and she objectively contributed thereto by 

providing her insights to the committees where she either chairs or is a member of, and to the Board, 

based on her years of experience and expertise in the legal profession and in finance.   

 

 
1 Section 2.2.1.6.2 of the GSMI Manual on Corporate Governance provides that: “The Board's Independent Directors shall 
serve for a maximum cumulative term of nine (9) years. Upon reaching this limit, an Independent Director should be perpetually 
barred from re-election as such in the Corporation, but may continue to qualify for nomination and election as a non-
independent director. In the instance that the Corporation needs to retain an Independent Director who has served for nine (9) 
years, the Board shall provide meritorious justifications and seek shareholders' approval during the regular stockholders' 
meeting.” 

http://www.ginebrasanmiguel.com/
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Being familiar with the mission, vision and corporate values of the Company, the presence of Director 

Chico-Nazario has enhanced these values by her sustained advisory relationship with the Company, 

especially with respect to the protection of the interest of its minority stockholders and other 

stakeholders.  

 

On the basis of the foregoing, the Board found that the independence of Director Chico-Nazario has 

not been diminished or impaired by her long service as a member of the Board. The Board has full 

confidence that Director Chico-Nazario will continue acting as an Independent Director with the same 

zeal, diligence and vigor as when first elected. 

 

Accordingly, the Corporate Governance Committee has determined, during its meeting held on March 

10, 2021, that all the nominees are qualified for election by the stockholders during the 2021 Regular 

Stockholders’ Meeting (“2021 RSM”) scheduled on May 27, 2021.  

 

Every stockholder entitled to vote shall be entitled to one (1) vote for each share of stock in his name 

in the books of the Company. However, in electing directors, every stockholder is entitled to cumulate 

his votes in accordance with the provisions of law. 

    

Appointment of External Auditor 

 

R.G. Manabat & Co. is nominated as the Company’s external auditor for 2021. On March 10, 2021, 

upon the favorable endorsement of the Audit and Risk Oversight Committee, the Board approved the 

nomination of the said external auditor for approval of the stockholders during the 2021 RSM.  A 

more detailed information about the nominated external auditor may be found in 

https://home.kpmg/ph/en/home/about/overview.html. 

 

Other Matters  

 

Stockholders who, alone or together with other shareholders, hold at least five percent (5%) of the 

outstanding capital stock of the Company shall have the right to include items on the agenda prior to 

the 2021 RSM, in accordance with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 14, Series of 2020. 
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Appendix 2 

 

 

PROCEDURE FOR ATTENDING THE MEETING THROUGH REMOTE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

1. Stockholders of record as of April 19, 2021, who intend to attend the meeting are requested to 

register by notifying the Company through email at gsmirsm@ginebra.sanmiguel.com.ph, 

not later than May 10, 2021. Intention to attend the meeting may be signified together with 

the submission of the Ballot and Proxies.  

 

2. For validation purposes, the email should contain the following information: (i) name; (ii) 

address; (iii) telephone number; and (iv) email address, and a scanned copy of any valid 

government-issued identification card (“ID”) with photo of the stockholder.  

 

3. Only the stockholders who have notified the Company of their intention to participate as 

above-described and have been validated to be stockholders of record of the Company will be 

considered in computing stockholder attendance and quorum at the meeting, together with the 

stockholders attending through proxies.    

 

4. Stockholders who failed to register may still attend the meeting by accessing the 

livestreaming link at the Company’s website, http://www.ginebrasanmiguel.com. 

 

5. Shareholders may send their questions and/or comments prior to or during the meeting to 

gsmirsm@ginebra.sanmiguel.com.ph.   

 

6. There will be a visual and audio recording of the meeting. 

 

 

Should you have questions or requests for clarification on the procedure for attending the Regular 

Stockholders’ Meeting through remote communication, please email them to 

gsmirsm@ginebra.sanmiguel.com.ph.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.ginebrasanmiguel.com/


5 

 

Appendix 3 

 
SAMPLE BALLOT/PROXY 

 

Please mark the appropriate box: 

Vote by ballot:  The undersigned stockholder of GINEBRA SAN MIGUEL INC. (the “Company” or “GSMI”) casts his vote on 

the agenda items for the 2021 Regular Stockholders’ Meeting of GSMI (the “2021 RSM”), as expressly indicated with “X” 

below in this ballot. 

 

Vote by proxy:  The undersigned stockholder of the Company hereby appoints ___________________ or, in his absence, the 

Chairman of the meeting, as attorney and proxy, to represent and vote all the shares registered in his name at the 2021 RSM and 

any of its adjournment(s), as fully as the undersigned can do if present and voting in person, ratifying all action taken on matters 

that may properly come before such meeting or its adjournment(s). The undersigned directs the proxy to vote on the agenda 

items which have been expressly indicated with “X” below. 

 

 

 Signed this ___ day of _____________, 2021 at __________________________________. 

 

___________________________________                          ____________________________________________ 

PRINTED NAME OF STOCKHOLDER   SIGNATURE OF STOCKHOLDER/ NAME AND 

                      SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED SIGNATORY 

 
THIS PROXY/BALLOT SHOULD BE RECEIVED BY THE CORPORATE SECRETARY ON OR BEFORE May 10, 2021. FOR 

STOCKHOLDERS, THAT ARE PARTNERSHIPS, CORPORATIONS OR ASSOCIATIONS, THE PROXY MUST BE ACCOMPANIED 
BY A SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE SETTING OUT THE AUTHORITY OF THEIR DESIGNATED PROXIES. THIS PROXY, 

WHEN PROPERLY EXECUTED, WILL BE VOTED IN THE MANNER AS DIRECTED HEREIN BY THE STOCKHOLDER. IF NO 

DIRECTION IS MADE, THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED FOR THE ELECTION OF ALL NOMINEES AND FOR THE APPROVAL 

OF THE MATTERS STATED ABOVE AND FOR SUCH OTHER MATTERS AS MAY PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE MEETING 

AS RECOMMENDED BY MANAGEMENT OR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. A STOCKHOLDER GIVING A PROXY HAS THE 
POWER TO REVOKE IT AT ANY TIME BEFORE THE RIGHT GRANTED IS EXERCISED. NOTARIZATION OF THE PROXY IS 

NOT REQUIRED. 
 

PROPOSAL 

 

 

ACTION 

FOR ALL WITHHOLD 

FOR ALL 

EXCEPTION FULL 

DESCRIPTION 

PROXY 

1. Election of Directors for 2021     

The following are the nominees: 

Ramon S. Ang                   

Francisco S. Alejo III 

Leo S. Alvez     

Aurora T. Calderon                           

Gabriel S. Claudio   

Mario K. Surio 

Francis H. Jardeleza 

Minita V. Chico-Nazario-Independent Director          

Aurora S. Lagman-Independent Director          

INSTRUCTIONS: To withhold authority to vote for 

any individual nominee(s), please mark Exception 

box and list the name(s) under. 

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN  

2. Approval of the Minutes of the Regular 

Stockholders’ Meeting held on June 23, 2020 

    

3. Presentation of the Annual Report of the 

Company for the year ended December 31, 

2020 

    

4. Ratification of Acts and Proceedings of the 

Board of Directors and Corporate Officers  

    

5. Appointment of R.G. Manabat and Co. as 

External Auditor of the Company for 2021 
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

 

SEC FORM 20-IS 

 

INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 20 

OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE 

 

 

 

1. Check the appropriate box: 

 

  Preliminary Information Statement 

 

 _______Definitive Information Statement 

  

 

2. Name of Registrant as specified in its Charter:  

 

GINEBRA SAN MIGUEL INC. 

 

 

3. Province, country and other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization: 

 

Metro Manila, Philippines 

 

 

4. SEC Identification Number: 142312 

 

 

5. BIR Tax Identification Code: 000-083-856-000 

 

 

6. Address of principal office:     Postal Code:   

3rd and 6th Floors, San Miguel Properties Centre,       1550 

St. Francis Street, Ortigas Center, 

 Mandaluyong City, Philippines 

 

 

7. Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (632) 8841-5100 

 

 

8. Date, time and place of the meeting of stockholders:  

 

Date:  May 27, 2021, Thursday 

Time:  2:00 P.M. 

  Livestream via http://www.ginebrasanmiguel.com 

 

9. Approximate date of which the Information Statement is to be first sent or given to security 

holders:     

 

May 5, 2021  
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✓ 

 

10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the SRC: 

 

 

Title of Each Class Authorized Outstanding 

(As of March 31, 2021)   

Common 460,000,000 286,327,841 

Preferred 100,000,000                   0   

 560,000,000 286,327,841 

  

 

 

11. Are any or all the registrant’s securities listed on a Stock Exchange? 

  

 ___ Yes     _____ No 

 

If yes, disclose the name of such Stock Exchange and the class of securities listed therein: 

 

       The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. - Common Shares 
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INFORMATION STATEMENT 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

Date, Time and Place of Regular Meeting  

 

 Date:  May 27, 2021, Thursday 

 Time:    2:00 P.M. 

 Venue:  Livestream via http://www.ginebrasanmiguel.com 

 

 The principal office of the Registrant is at 3rd and 6th Floors, San Miguel Properties Centre, St. 

Francis Street, Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City, Philippines. 

 

The Information Statement is to be first sent to security holders approximately on May 5, 

2021. 

 

WE ARE NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY AND WE REQUEST THAT YOU 

REFRAIN FROM SENDING US A PROXY.  

 

As attendance to the meeting will only be via remote communication, votes will be cast only 

through ballots or proxies. Ballots and proxies may be submitted to the Corporate Secretary through 

email at gsmirsm@ginebra.sanmiguel.com.ph, which shall be acknowledged and validated with the 

assistance of the Company’s stock transfer agent, SMC Stock Transfer Service Corporation. Validated 

ballots and proxies will be considered for purposes of determining quorum and voting results. For 

your convenience, a sample of a ballot/proxy is attached as Appendix 3. For an individual, his ballot 

or proxy must be accompanied by a valid government-issued identification card with a photo. For a 

corporation, its proxy must be accompanied by a Secretary’s Certificate stating the representative’s 

authority to represent the corporation in the meeting. In the event that the community quarantine or 

any of its forms which restricts the movement of persons remains, and makes it difficult to obtain 

notarization of the said certificate at the time of submission, the same may be submitted unnotarized. 

Proxies need not be notarized. Kindly submit hard copies of the ballots and proxies and notarized 

Secretary’s Certificates within a reasonable time upon resumption of normal business operations. 

Stockholders who provide their personal information shall be deemed to agree to the collection and 

processing of their personal information in accordance with the Company’s privacy statement for its 

Regular Stockholders’ Meeting posted on its website. 

 

The deadline for the submission of ballots and proxies is on May 10, 2021. Validation of 

ballots and proxies will be on May 14, 2021 at 10:00 a.m. at the SMC Stock Transfer Service 

Corporation Office, 2nd Floor, SMC Head Office Complex, No. 40 San Miguel Ave., Mandaluyong 

City, Philippines.   

 

Dissenters’ Right of Appraisal 

 

Any stockholder shall have the right to dissent and demand payment of the fair value of the 

shares in the following instances: amendment to the corporation’s articles of incorporation which has 

the effect of changing and restricting the rights of any shareholder or class of shares; or of authorizing 

preferences in any respect superior to those of outstanding shares of any class; or of extending or 

shortening the term of corporate existence; sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other 

disposition of all or substantially all of the corporate property and assets; merger or consolidation; and 

investment of corporate funds in another corporation or business for any purpose other than its 

primary purpose. The stockholders’ right of appraisal may be exercised within a period of thirty (30) 

days from the date on which the vote on the corporate action was taken.2 

 
2 As provided in Sections 80 and 81 of the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines (the “RCCP”). 
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For the 2021 Regular Stockholders’ Meeting (the “RSM”) of Ginebra San Miguel Inc. (the 

“Company” or “GSMI”), there are no corporate matters or actions that will entitle dissenting 

stockholders to exercise their right of appraisal as provided in the Revised Corporation Code of the 

Philippines (the “RCCP”).3   

 

Interest of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon 

 

 No director, nominee for election as director, associate of the nominee or executive officer of 

the Company at any time since the beginning of the last fiscal year has had any substantial interest, 

direct or indirect, by security holdings or otherwise, in any of the matters to be acted upon in the 

meeting, other than election to office. 

 

 None of the incumbent directors has informed the Company in writing of an intention to 

oppose any action to be taken by the Company at the meeting. 

 

 

CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 

 

Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof 

 

Number of shares outstanding as of March 31, 2021: 

 

Common Shares:    286,327,841 

Total shares issued and outstanding:              286,327,841 

 

All stockholders as of April 19, 2021 are entitled to vote at the 2021 RSM of the Company. 

 

Every stockholder entitled to vote shall be entitled to one (1) vote for each share of stock in 

his name in the books of the Company. However, in electing members to the Board of Directors (the 

“Board”), every stockholder is entitled to cumulate his votes in accordance with the provisions of the 

RCCP.4   

 

Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners  

 

 Owners of record of more than 5% of the Company’s voting securities as of March 31, 2021 

are as follows: 

 

 

Title of 

Class 

Name, Address of 

Record Owner and 

Relationship with 

Issuer 

Name of Beneficial 

Owner and 

Relationship with 

Record Owner 

Citizenship No. of Shares 

Held 

Percent 

Common San Miguel Food and 

Beverage, Inc., 5 No. 

40 San Miguel 

Avenue, 

San Miguel 

Corporation 

Filipino 216,972,000 75.78% 

 
3 Id. 
4 In accordance with Section 23 of the RCCP, a stockholder may; (a) vote such number of shares for as many persons as there 
are directors to be elected; (b) cumulate said shares and give one (1) candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be 
elected multiplied by the number of the shares owned; or (c) distribute them on the same principle among as many candidates 
as may be seen fit: Provided, that the total number of votes cast shall not exceed the number of shares owned by the 
stockholders as shown in the books of the corporation multiplied by the whole number of directors to be elected. 
5 The Board of Directors of San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc. (“SMFB”) authorizes any one Group A signatory, or any two 
Group B signatories to act and vote in person or by proxy, shares held by SMFB in other corporations. The Group A signatories 
of SMFB are Ramon S. Ang, Ferdinand K. Constantino, Francisco S. Alejo III, Joseph N. Pineda, Virgilio S. Jacinto, Aurora T. 
Calderon, Sergio G. Edeza, Roberto N. Huang, Emmanuel B. Macalalag and Elizabeth R. Bay. The Group B signatories of 
SMFB are Bella O. Navarra, Almira C. Dalusung, Eileen P. Ratilla, Ildefonso B. Alindogan, Daniel T. De Castro, Jr., Rita Imelda 
B. Palabyab, Joseph Francis M. Cruz and Florence P. Pavon. 
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Mandaluyong City, 

parent company of 

the issuer. 

 

Common PCD Nominee 

Corporation6 

(Filipino),  

Ground Floor, Makati 

Stock Exchange 

Ayala, Ave., Makati 

City 

Various Filipino 46,270,681 16.16% 

Common PCD Nominee 

Corporation7 (Non-

Filipino),  

Ground Floor, Makati 

Stock Exchange 

Ayala, Ave., Makati 

City 

Various Non-Filipino 20,810,129 7.27% 

 

 As of March 31, 2021, there are 20,834,930 foreign-owned common shares, which accounts 

for 7.28% of the Company’s total outstanding shares.   

 

 The following are the number of shares of the Company’s capital stock (all of which are 

voting shares) owned of record by the directors of the Company as of March 31, 2021: 

 

 

 (1) Title of 

Class 

(2) Name of Record 

Owner 

(3) Amount and 

Nature of 

Ownership 

(4) Citizenship (5) Percent of 

Class 

Common  Ramon S. Ang 5,000 (r) Filipino 0.00% 

Common Francisco S. Alejo III          5,000 (r) Filipino 0.00% 

Common Gabriel S. Claudio 5,000 (r) Filipino 0.00% 

Common Aurora T. Calderon  5,000 (r) Filipino 0.00% 

Common Leo S. Alvez  5,000 (r) Filipino 0.00% 

Common Minita V. Chico-Nazario  5,000 (r) Filipino 0.00% 

Common Francis H. Jardeleza 5,000 (r) Filipino 0.00% 

Common Aurora S. Lagman  5,000 (r) Filipino 0.00% 

Common  Mario K. Surio  5,000 (r) Filipino 0.00% 

 

 The aggregate number of shares owned of record by the directors of the Company, as a group, 

as of March 31, 2021, is 45,000 shares or approximately 0.0157% of the Company’s outstanding 

capital stock. 

 

The aggregate number of shares owned of record by all officers and directors (as a group) of 

the Company as of March 31, 2021 is 239,500 shares or approximately 0.0836% of the Company’s 

outstanding capital stock. 

 

 The foregoing beneficial or record owners have no right to acquire additional shares within 

thirty (30) days from options, warrants, conversion privileges or similar obligations or otherwise. 

 

 

 
6 Registered owner of shares held by participants in the Philippine Depository & Trust Corp., a private company organized to 
implement an automated book entry of handling securities in the Philippines.  PCD Nominee Corporation is not related to the 
Company. The beneficial owners of the shares held through a PCD participant are the beneficial owners thereof to the extent of 
the number of shares registered under the respective accounts with the PCD participant.  The Company has no record relating 
to the power to decide how the shares held by PCD are to be voted. As advised to the Company, none of the beneficial owners 
under a PCD participant owns more than 5% of the 5% of the Company’s common shares.  
7 Id.  
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

 

Directors, Including Independent Directors and Nominees, and Executive Officers 

 

 The names of the incumbent directors and nominees for election as directors for 2021, as well 

as the incumbent executive officers of the Company, who are all Filipinos, and their respective ages, 

periods of service, education and directorships in other companies and positions in the last five (5) 

years, are as follows: 

 

Ramon S. Ang, 67, is the President of the Company and has been a Director thereof since 

April 4, 2000.  He is the Chairman of the Executive Compensation Committee and a member of the 

Executive Committee of the Company. He currently holds the following positions in various 

subsidiaries and affiliates of the Company: Chairman and President of Distileria Bago, Inc.; Chairman 

of Ginebra San Miguel International Ltd. and GSM International Holdings Limited; and Director of 

Thai San Miguel Liquor Company Limited.  He also holds positions in the following PSE-listed 

companies: President and Chief Executive Officer of San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc.; President, 

Vice Chairman and Chief Operating Officer of San Miguel Corporation; Chief Executive Officer and 

President of Petron Corporation, Integrated Geo Solutions, Inc., Northern Cement Corporation and 

Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc.; Chairman of Eagle Cement Corporation; and Petron Malaysia 

Refining and Marketing Bhd (a company publicly listed in Malaysia). His other current positions, 

include, among others, the following: Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief 

Operating Officer of SMC Global Power Holdings, Corp.; Chairman and President of San Miguel 

Properties, Inc., San Miguel Consolidated Power Corporation, San Miguel Infrastructure Corporation, 

and Trans Aire Development Holdings Corp.; Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of SMC Asia 

Cars Distributors Corp.; Chairman of San Miguel Brewery Inc., San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong 

Limited (listed in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange); San Miguel Foods, Inc., The Pure Foods Hormel 

Company, Inc., San Miguel Yamamura Packaging Corporation, South Luzon Tollway Corporation, 

Anchor Insurance Brokerage Corp., Sea Refinery Corporation, Philippine Diamond Hotel & Resort 

Inc. and Manila North Harbour Port, Inc.  Mr. Ang was previously the President and Chief Operating 

Officer of PAL Holdings, Inc. and Philippine Airlines, Inc., Director of Air Philippines Corporation, 

and Vice Chairman of Manila Electric Company.  He has held directorships in various companies, 

including domestic and international subsidiaries of San Miguel Corporation in the last five years.   

He has a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from Far Eastern University. 

 

Francisco S. Alejo III, 72, is a Director of the Company since May 28, 2015 and is a member 

of the Company’s Executive Committee and Audit and Risk Oversight Committee.  He is also the 

Director and Chief Operating Officer – Food of the San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc., a company 

listed with the PSE. He also holds the following positions: President of Magnolia Inc., The Purefoods-

Hormel Company Inc., San Miguel Foods, Inc. and San Miguel Mills, Inc.; Chairman of San Miguel 

Purefoods (Vn) Co. Ltd., Golden Food & Dairy Creamery Corporation, Golden Bay Grain Terminal 

Corporation, Golden Avenue Corp. and San Miguel Foods International Limited; and Director of the 

following private companies: San Miguel Super Coffeemix Co., Inc., San Miguel Foods & Beverage 

International Limited (BVI) and San Miguel Pure Foods Investment (BVI) Ltd.  He is also the 

President Commissioner of PT San Miguel Purefoods (VN) Co., Ltd. He is also a Board Member of 

San Miguel Foundation, Inc. He was previously the President of San Miguel Pure Foods Company, 

Inc. Mr. Alejo holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from De La Salle University, 

and is a graduate of the Advanced Management Program of Harvard Business School. 

 

Aurora T. Calderon, 66, is a Director of the Company since November 9, 2017 and is a 

member of the Company’s Executive Committee, Executive Compensation Committee, Corporate 

Governance Committee and the Company’s Retirement Plan - Board of Trustees.  She currently holds 

the following positions in various subsidiaries and affiliates of the Company: Chairman and President 

of East Pacific Star Bottler Phils Inc., Agricrops Industries Inc., Crown Royal Distillers, Inc. and 

Healthy Condiments, Inc.; Chairman of Global Beverage Holdings Limited and Siam Holdings 

Limited; and Director of Distilera Bago, Inc., Thai San Miguel Liquor Company Limited, Siam Wine 

and Liquor Limited, Ginebra San Miguel International Ltd. and GSM International Holdings Limited. 
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She is a Director and Senior Vice President - Senior Executive Assistant to the President and Chief 

Operating Officer of San Miguel Corporation.  She is also a Director of the following PSE-listed 

companies: San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc., Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. and Petron 

Corporation.  Her other current positions, include, among others, the following: Director of SMITS, 

Inc., Bank of Commerce, San Miguel Yamamura Packaging Corp., San Miguel Consolidated Power 

Corporation, San Miguel Infrastructure Corporation and Trans Aire Development Holdings Corp. She 

was formerly a director of Philippine Holdings, Inc., Philippine Airlines, Inc. and Manila Electric 

Company, to name a few. Ms. Calderon is a Certified Public Accountant who graduated Magna Cum 

Laude from the University of the East with a degree in Business Administration major in Accounting. 

She is a member of the Financial Executives and the Philippine Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants. 

 

Leo S. Alvez, 78, has been a Director of the Company since April 24, 2002. He is also a 

member of the Audit and Risk Oversight Committee, Executive Compensation Committee and 

Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. He was previously the Chairman of the 

Company’s Nominations and Hearing Committee. He is also an incumbent Director of San Miguel 

Corporation, a company listed with the PSE.  Retired Major General Alvez, a former director of San 

Miguel Purefoods Company, Inc., has also held various positions in the government. He earned his 

Bachelor of Science Degree from the Philippine Military Academy and Masters in Business 

Administration from the University of the Philippines. He also attended various military education 

courses. 

 

Gabriel S. Claudio, 66, has been a Director of the Company since November 11, 2010 and a 

Member of the Company’s Corporate Governance Committee. He is presently the Vice Chairman of 

Risks and Opportunities Assessment Management, Inc.; Director of Philippine Amusement and 

Gaming Corporation and Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation; and a Member of the Board of 

Trustees of Conflict Resolution Group Foundation, Inc., and TOBY’s Sports and Youth Foundation, 

Inc. He was Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Metropolitan Waterworks and Sewerage System 

and Conflict Resolution Group Foundation, Inc.; Director of the Development Bank of the Philippines 

and Member of the Board of Directors of the Philippine Charity Sweepstakes Office.  He also 

occupied several cabinet positions: Presidential Political Adviser to Presidents Fidel V. Ramos and 

Gloria Macapagal Arroyo, Presidential Legislative Adviser, Chief of the Presidential Legislative 

Liaison Office, Cabinet Officer for Regional Development (CORD) for Eastern Visayas and Acting 

Executive Secretary.  He obtained his degree in AB Communication Arts from the Ateneo de Manila 

University and is a recipient of the Most Outstanding Graduating Communications Arts Major award. 

 

Mario K. Surio, 74, has been a Director of the Company since May 28, 2015 and a member 

of the Company’s Corporate Governance Committee. He is currently a Technical Consultant of San 

Miguel Corporation. His other current positions, include, among others, the following: President of 

Daguma Agro Minerals Inc., Sultan Energy Philippines Corp. and Bonanza Energy Resources Inc.; 

Director of Eagle Cement Corporation, South Luzon Tollways Corp. (SLEX) and San Miguel 

Yamamura Packaging Corporation. He is also the Vice Chairman and Director of Private Infra 

Development Corp. (TPLEX). He was previously the President of CEMA Consultancy Services, Inc., 

Phil Technologies Inc., Cement Management Corporation and Centech International, Inc.  He also 

previously held the positions of Quality Control Head, Production Manager and Plant Manager of 

Northern Cement Corporation and President of Cema Consultancy Services, Inc.  Mr. Surio is a 

licensed Chemical Engineer having obtained his degree from the University of Sto. Tomas. He is an 

incumbent member of the Philippine Institute of Chemical Engineers. 

 

Francis H. Jardeleza, 71 is a Director of the Company since August 5, 2020. He is currently 

a director of San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc., and Petron Corporation, which are both listed with 

the PSE.  He is also currently a professorial lecturer at the University of the Philippines College of 

Law. He has previously held the following positions in the government: Associate Justice of the 

Supreme Court and Solicitor General and Deputy Ombudsman for Luzon. He was the former Senior 

Vice President and General Counsel of San Miguel Corporation and has been a partner in several law 

firms including the law firm of Angara Abello Concepcion Regala and Cruz. He obtained his law 
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degree from the University of the Philippines where he was class salutatorian, graduated Cum Laude 

and placed third in the 1974 Bar Examinations.  He holds a Master of Laws degree from Harvard 

University. 

 

Minita V. Chico-Nazario, 81, is an Independent Director of the Company since March 9, 

2012, Chairperson of the Company’s Audit and Risk Oversight Committee and member of the 

Company’s Executive Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.  She is also 

an Independent Director of PSE-listed companies, Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. and San 

Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc., and private company, San Miguel Properties, Inc. Her other current 

positions, include, among others, the following:  Chairman of Philippine Grains International 

Corporation and Director of Mariveles Grain Corporation; Consultant of United Coconut Planters 

Bank; Of Counsel of Tan, Acut, Lopez and Pison Law Offices. She has previously held the following 

positions: Dean of the College of Law of the University of Perpetual Help System DALTA in Las 

Piñas City, Legal Consultant of Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation and Metro Manila 

Development Authority; and Director of PNOC Exploration Corporation. She has served the judiciary 

in various capacities for forty-seven (47) years, as Presiding Justice of the Sandiganbayan and 

Associate Justice of the Supreme Court, among others. She obtained her law degree from the 

University of the Philippines and is a member of the New York State Bar.  

 

Aurora S. Lagman, 82, is an Independent Director of the Company since March 15, 2017 and 

is the Chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the Audit and Risk 

Oversight Committee of the Company. She is a part-time faculty member of the College of Law, 

Bulacan State University (currently on leave), member of the Board of Trustees of Society for Judicial 

Excellence, and adviser of RTC Judges Association of Bulacan, Inc. Among others, she previously 

held the following positions: Member, Judicial and Bar Council; Associate Justice, Court of Appeals; 

and Judge, Regional Trial Court, Branch 77, Malolos, Bulacan.   She obtained her law degree at the 

College of Law of Lyceum of the Philippines and attended special studies and short courses abroad 

such as Program of Instruction for Lawyers, Harvard Law School, Cambridge, Massachusetts, U.S.A. 

and Special Course on Evidence, National Judicial College, University of Nevada, Reno, U.S.A. She 

also attended various domestic and foreign trainings, seminars and conferences. 

 

 Virgilio S. Jacinto, 64, is the Company’s Corporate Secretary and Compliance Officer since 

November 11, 2010. He also holds, among others, the following positions in the following PSE-listed 

companies: Senior Vice-President, General Counsel, Corporate Secretary and Compliance Officer of 

San Miguel Corporation; Corporate Secretary and Compliance Officer of Top Frontier Investment 

Holdings, Inc., and Director of Petron Corporation. He is also a Director and Corporate Secretary of 

various domestic and international subsidiaries of the San Miguel Corporation group. He has served 

as a Director and Corporate Secretary of United Coconut Planters Bank, Director of San Miguel 

Brewery Inc. and a Partner of Villareal Law Offices, to name a few. He is an Associate Professor VII 

at the University of the Philippines, College of Law. Atty. Jacinto obtained his law degree from the 

University of the Philippines where he was class salutatorian and placed sixth in the 1981 Bar 

Examinations.  He holds a Master of Laws degree from Harvard University and a member of the 

International Honor Society of the PHI KAPPA PHI and Harvard Club (Philippines). 

 

Emmanuel B. Macalalag, 55, is the Vice President and General Manager of the Company.  

He currently holds the following positions in the various subsidiaries and affiliates of the Company: 

Director and General Manager of Distileria Bago, Inc. and East Pacific Star Bottlers Phils Inc; and 

Director of Agricrops Industries Inc., Crown Royal Distillers, Inc., Healthy Condiments, Inc., Thai 

San Miguel Liquor Company Limited, and GSM International Holdings Limited. He is also a Director 

and Chief Operating Officer – Liquor of San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc., a PSE-listed company. 

He previously held the following positions in the Company: Manufacturing Group Manager, 

Manufacturing Operations Group, Planning and Management Services Manager, Business Planning 

and Development Manager and Business Planning and Investor Relations Manager. Mr. Macalalag 

obtained his Bachelor’s Degree in Science, Major in Mathematics from De La Salle University 

(DLSU), Manila where he graduated Cum Laude. He also holds a Master’s degree in Mathematics 

from DLSU and PhD degree in Operations Research from the University of Melbourne, Australia. 
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Cynthia M. Baroy, 57, is the Vice President and Chief Finance Officer/Treasurer of the 

Company. She is also a Director and Treasurer of all the wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries of the 

Company, which are Distileria Bago, Inc.(“DBI”), East Pacific Star Bottlers Phils Inc., Agricrops 

Industries Inc., Crown Royal Distillers, Inc. and Healthy Condiments, Inc. She is also an incumbent 

Director of the following foreign subsidiaries and affiliates of the Company: GSM International 

Holdings Limited, Siam Holdings Limited, Global Beverage Holdings Limited, Siam Wine and 

Liquor Limited, and Thai Ginebra Trading Company Limited.  She is also a Member of the Board of 

Trustees of the Retirement Plan of the Company and DBI. She previously held the following 

positions: Financial Planning and Analysis Manager of San Miguel Yamamura Packaging 

Corporation; Finance Manager of Metal Closures & Lithography Business; and, Finance Manager of 

San Miguel Rengo Packaging Corporation. Ms. Baroy obtained her B.S. Commerce major in 

Accounting from the University of Sto. Tomas where she graduated Cum Laude. She is a Certified 

Public Accountant. 

 

Allan P. Mercado, 55, is the Vice President and Sales and Marketing Manager of the 

Company. He is also a Director of Siam Holdings Limited, Agricrops Industries Inc., Crown Royal 

Distillers, Inc. and Healthy Condiments, Inc. He previously held the following positions National 

Sales Manager and Sales and Marketing Support Group Manager of the Company, National Sales 

Manager of San Miguel Beverages, Inc. and Selling Systems and Training Manager of Coca-Cola 

Bottlers Phils., Inc.  He obtained his Bachelor of Science Degree in Management and Industrial 

Engineering at the Mapua Institute of Technology. 

 

Ronald Rudolf C. Molina, 52, is the Assistant Vice President and Marketing Manager of the 

Company. Previously, he was the Senior Manager and Head of the Marketing for Digital Innovations 

and Value-Added Services, Postpaid Broadband Business and Brand Equity Management at Smart 

Communications.  Prior to that, he was a Senior Marketing Manager at the Coca-Cola Export 

Corporation- Philippines Division, where he was in charge of the business in the Visayas, Mindanao 

and South GMA Regions. He obtained his Bachelor of Arts Degree in Communication Arts at the 

Ateneo De Manila University. 

 

Term of Office 

 

 The members of the Board are elected at the regular meeting of the stockholders by the 

stockholders entitled to vote and they hold office until their successors are elected and qualified.  

  

The nominees for election to the Board on May 27, 2021 are the following: 

 

1. Ramon S. Ang 

2. Francisco S. Alejo III 

3. Aurora T. Calderon 

4. Leo S. Alvez 

5. Gabriel S. Claudio 

6. Mario K. Surio 

7. Francis H. Jardeleza 

8. Minita V. Chico-Nazario – Independent Director 

9. Aurora S. Lagman – Independent Director 

 

Article II, Section 4.1 of the Company’s Amended By-Laws (the “By-Laws”) provides that 
all nominations for the election of directors by the stockholders shall be submitted in writing to the 

Board through the Corporate Secretary on or before January 20 or at such earlier or later date that the 

Board may fix. 

 

 Article II, Section 3 of the By-Laws also provides that any stockholder having at least five 

thousand (5,000) shares registered in his name may be elected director, provided, however, that no 
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person shall qualify or be eligible for nomination or election to the Board if he is engaged in any 

business which competes with or is antagonistic to that of the Company. 

 

The Corporate Governance Committee, during its meeting on March 10, 2021, pre-screened 

and shortlisted all the nine (9) candidates nominated to become  members of the Board, and 

determined that all the nominees have all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications set forth 

in the Company’s Amended By-Laws, CG Manual and other applicable laws, circulars, rules and 

regulations, including the issuances of the SEC and are qualified for election as directors during the 

2021 RSM of the Company. This is in accordance with the Company’s CG Manual and the Corporate 

Governance Committee Charter. 

 

Independent Directors 

 

The Company has two (2) Independent Directors who, apart from their fees and 

shareholdings, have no business or relationship with the Company, which could or could reasonably 

be perceived to materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment in carrying out 

their responsibilities as directors.  

 

The following are the incumbent Independent Directors of the Company, who are also 

nominated for re-election on May 27, 2021: 

 

 

In approving the nomination for Independent Directors, the Corporate Governance Committee 

considered the guidelines on the nomination of Independent Directors prescribed in Rule 38 of the 

Securities Regulation Code (“SRC”), its Implementing Rules and Regulations, applicable issuances of 

the SEC and the Company’s By-Laws and CG Manual. 

 

As for Director Minita V. Chico-Nazario, she has been serving the Company as an 

Independent Director for more than nine (9) years. The Company’s Corporate Governance Committee 

evaluated the independence of Director Nazario and determined that she possesses all the 

qualifications and none of the disqualifications to act as Independent Director of the Company, in 

accordance with Section 2.2.1.6.1 of the CG Manual which adopted Recommendation 5.2 of the Code 

of Corporate Governance for Publicly Listed Companies (SEC Memorandum Circular No. 19, Series 

of 2016.)8 

 

In its meeting held on March 10, 2021, the Board of the Company, as favorably endorsed and 

recommended by the Company’s Corporate Governance Committee, has agreed to approve and 

endorse for the vote of the stockholders of the Company the re-election of Director Nazario as an 

Independent Director pursuant to Section 2.2.1.6.1 of the CG Manual. 

 

In serving as an Independent Director of the Company, Director Chico-Nazario has brought 

high standards of corporate governance to the Company and she objectively contributed thereto by 

providing her insights to the committees where she either chairs or is a member of, and to the Board, 

based on her years of experience and expertise in the legal profession and in finance.   

 

 
8 Section 2.2.1.6.2 of the GSMI Manual on Corporate Governance provides that: “The Board's Independent Directors shall 
serve for a maximum cumulative term of nine (9) years. Upon reaching this limit, an Independent Director should be perpetually 
barred from re-election as such in the Corporation, but may continue to qualify for nomination and election as a non-
independent director. In the instance that the Corporation needs to retain an Independent Director who has served for nine (9) 
years, the Board shall provide meritorious justifications and seek shareholders' approval during the regular stockholders' 
meeting.” 

Nominee for Independent 

Director  

(a) 

Person/Group 

recommending nomination 

(b) 

Relation of (a) and (b) 

Minita V. Chico-Nazario Ramon S. Ang None 

Aurora S. Lagman Ramon S. Ang None 
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Being familiar with the mission, vision and corporate values of the Company, the presence of 

Director Chico-Nazario has enhanced these values by her sustained advisory relationship with the 

Company, especially with respect to the protection of the interest of its minority stockholders and 

other stakeholders.  

 

On the basis of the foregoing, the Board found that the independence of Director Chico-

Nazario has not been diminished or impaired by her long service as a member of the Board. The 

Board has full confidence that Director Chico-Nazario will continue acting as an Independent Director 

with the same zeal, diligence and vigor as when first elected. 

 

 The foregoing Independent Directors have certified that they possess all the qualifications and 

none of the disqualifications provided for in the SRC. The respective Certificates of Qualification9 of 

the said directors are attached hereto as Annexes “A-1” and “A-2”, respectively.  

 

Significant Employees 

 

 The Company has no employee who is not an executive officer but who is expected to make a 

significant contribution to the business. 

 

Family Relationships 

 

There are no family relationships up to the fourth (4th) civil degree, either by consanguinity or 

affinity, among the directors, executive officers, or nominees for election as directors. 

 

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

 

There were no transactions with directors, officers or any principal stockholders (owning at 

least 10% of the total outstanding shares of the Company) that were not in the ordinary course of 

business. The Company observes an arm’s length policy in its dealings with related parties.  The 

Company is also guided by the Material Related Party Transactions Policy of the Company, which 

was approved by the Board on August 7, 2019. 

 

No director of the Company was involved in self-dealing or related party transactions. 

  

Parent Company 

 

 As of March 31, 2021, San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc. (“SMFB”) owns 75.78% of the 

shares of the Company.  

 

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 

 

 None of the directors, nominees for election as director, executive officers or control persons 

of the Company have been involved in the following legal proceedings, including being the subject of 

any (a) bankruptcy petition, (b) conviction by final judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic or 

foreign, excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses, (c) order, judgment or decree of any 

court of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, 

suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities or 

banking activities, which is not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, or (d) judgment of 

violation of a securities or commodities law or regulation by a domestic or foreign court of competent 

jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or comparable foreign body, or a domestic or foreign exchange 

or other organized trading market or self-regulatory organization, which has not been reversed, 

suspended or vacated, for the past five (5) years up to the latest date that is material to the evaluation 

of his/her ability or integrity to hold the relevant position in the Company.   

 
9 The attached Certificates of Qualification are compliant with the form prescribed in SEC Memorandum Circular No. 5, Series 
of 2017 dated 07 March 2017. 
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Trainings and Continuing Education Program for the Directors and Key Officers 

 

The Directors and the key officers keep themselves abreast with industry developments and 

business trends. Moreover, the Company’s Compliance Officer regularly apprise the directors during 

Board meetings, on pertinent and current laws, regulations and government issuances, and advises the 

Board on all relevant issues as they arise. 

The Directors also regularly attend a training or program on corporate governance at least 

once a year. In 2020, all incumbent directors and officers of the Company, including the Internal 

Audit Group Head, attended a Corporate Governance Seminar conducted by SEC-accredited 

providers: R.G. Manabat & Co (KPMG), Risk, Opportunities, Assessment and Management 

(ROAM), Inc., SGV & Co. and Center for Global Best Practices, in compliance with the requirement 

of the SEC. The seminars were conducted via videoconferencing in view of the current Covid-19 

pandemic. Below are the Corporate Governance Trainings attended by the members of the Board and 

senior executive officers: 

DATE PROVIDER ATTENDEES 

September 9, 2020 SGV & Co. Aurora T. Claderon 

Francis H. Jardeleza 

Virgilio S. Jacinto 

September 25, 2020 SGV & Co. Francisco S. Alejo III 

Minita V. Chico-Nazario 

 

December 1, 2020 R.G. Manabat & Co (KPMG) Leo S. Alvez 

Mario K. Surio 

Aurora S. Lagman 

Emmanuel B. Macalalag 

Cynthia M. Baroy 

Allan P. Mercado 

Ronald Rudolf C. Molina 

December 3, 2020 Center for Global Best Practices Ramon S. Ang 

December 16, 2020 Risk, Opportunities, 

Assessment and Management 

(ROAM) 

Gabriel S. Claudio 

 

 

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

 

 The following table summarizes the aggregate compensation (in Millions) paid or incurred 

during the last two (2) fiscal years and estimated to be paid in the ensuing fiscal year to the 

Company’s General Manager and senior executive officers: 

 

 

NAME YEAR SALARY BONUS OTHERS TOTAL 

 

Total Compensation of the 

General Manager and 

Senior Executive 

Officers10 

 

2021 (estimated) 

2020 

2019 

 

P35.9 

P33.0 

P31.8 

 

P8.9 

P12.6 

P18.7 

 

P9.8 

P9.4 

P8.9 

 

P54.6 

P55.0 

P59.4 

 
10 For 2019 to present, the General Manager of the Company is Mr. Emmanuel B. Macalalag and the senior officers are, Ms., 
Cynthia M. Baroy, Allan P. Mercado, Monina N. Cortez and Ronald Molina.  Mr. Ramon S. Ang, the President of the Company, 
does not receive compensation from the Company other than the per diem for attendance in Board meetings. 
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All other officers and 

directors as a group 

unnamed11 

 

2021 (estimated) 

2020 

2019 

 

P30.4 

P33.4 

P31.8 

 

P7.5 

P10.6 

P17.0 

 

P10.3 

P11.4 

P10.7 

 

P48.2 

P55.4 

P59.5 

 

TOTAL 

 

2021 (estimated) 

2020 

2019 

 

P66.3 

P66.4 

P63.6 

 

P16.4 

P23.2 

P35.7 

 

P20.1 

P20.8 

P19.6 

 

P102.8 

P110.4 

P118.9 

 

The By-Laws of the Company provides that the members of the Board shall receive such 

compensation as may be approved by a majority vote of the stockholders at a regular or special 

meeting duly called, subject to such limitations as may be imposed by law. 

 

 The Directors do not receive compensation from the Company but only per diem for 

attendance in Board and Board Committee meetings in accordance with Section 29 of the RCCP.12   

In 2020, each director received a per diem of Ten Thousand Pesos (P10,000.00) per attendance at 

Board and Board Committee meetings of the Company. 

 

There were six (6) Board, five (5) Audit and Risk Oversight Committee, and two (2) 

Corporate Governance Committee meetings held in 2020. In view of the Covid-19 pandemic, all these 

meetings, except the March 11, 2020 Board and Audit and Risk and Oversight Committee meetings, 

were held via videoconference. Details of the directors’ attendance in the said meetings are set forth 

hereunder: 

 

2020 BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS DESIGNATION 

June 23, 2020 
BOARD 

MEETING 

ATTENDANCE 

REGULAR 

STOCKHOLDERS 

MEETING (RSM) 

ORGANIZATIONAL 

MEETING 

Ramon S. Ang  President Present Present 6/6 

Francisco S. Alejo III Director Present Present 6/6 

Aurora T. Calderon Director Present Present 6/6 

Leo S. Alvez Director Present Present 6/6 

Gabriel S. Claudio Director Present Present 6/6 

Mario K. Surio Director Present Present 6/6 

Francis H. Jardeleza13 Director n/a n/a 2/6 

Minita V. Chico-Nazario 
Lead Independent 

Director 
Present Present 6/6 

Aurora S. Lagman 
Independent 

Director 
Present Present 6/6 

 

 

 
11 The Directors do not receive compensation from the Company but only per diem for attendance in Board and Board 
Committee meetings. 
12 In accordance with Section 29 of the RCCP, Compensation of Directors or Trustees. - In the absence of any provision in the 
bylaws fixing their compensation, the directors or trustees shall not receive any compensation in their capacity as such, except 
for reasonable per diems: Provided, however, That the stockholders representing at least a majority of the outstanding capital 
stock or majority of the members may grant directors or trustees with compensation and approve the amount thereof at a 
regular or special meeting. In no case shall the total yearly compensation of directors exceed ten percent (10%) of the net 
income before income tax of the corporation during the preceding year Directors or trustees shall not participate in the 
determination of their own per diems or compensation. Corporations vested with public interest shall submit to their 
shareholders and the Commission, an annual report of the total compensation of each of their directors or trustees. 
13 Justice Francis H. Jardeleza (Ret.) was elected as Director on August 5, 2020.  
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2020 BOARD COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE14 

MEMBER AUDIT AND RISK OVERSIGHT CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Ramon S. Ang n/a n/a 

Francisco S. Alejo III 5/5 n/a 

Aurora T. Calderon n/a 2/2 

Leo S. Alvez 5/5 2/2 

Gabriel S. Claudio n/a 2/2 

Mario K. Surio n/a 2/2 

Francis H, Jardeleza n/a n/a 

Minita V. Chico-Nazario 5/5 (Chairman) 2/2 

Aurora S. Lagman 5/5 2/2 (Chairman) 

 

There were no other arrangements pursuant to which any of the directors was compensated or 

is to be compensated, directly or indirectly, during the last fiscal year, and the ensuing fiscal year. 

 

The executive officers of the Company, just like other full-time and permanent employees of 

the Company, subject to certain requirements,15 are eligible to subscribe to Company shares under the 

SEC-approved Company’s Employees Stock Purchase Plan (the “Plan”).  However, the shares 

covered by the Plan are no longer available for subscription as the offering period provided under the 

Plan officially ended on January 21, 2013. 

 

There were no employment contracts between the Company and its executive officers. 

 

There were neither compensatory plans nor arrangements with respect to its executive 

officers.   

 

ACTION WITH RESPECT TO REPORTS 

 

 The approval of the following will be considered and acted upon at the 2021 RSM: 

 

1. Minutes of the 2020 Regular Stockholders’ Meeting held on June 23, 2020 (“2020 Minutes”) with 

the following agenda: 

 

a) Approval of the Minutes of the Regular Stockholders' Meeting held on May 31, 2019 

b) Presentation of the Annual Report  

c) Ratification of Acts and Proceedings of the Board of Directors and Corporate Officers  

d) Election of Directors  

e) Appointment of External Auditor 

 

A copy of the draft of the 2020 Minutes may be accessed through the Company’s 

website, http://www.ginebrasanmiguel.com, which was uploaded in the website within five (5) 

days from the said meeting. A copy of the same is also attached hereto as Annex “D”. 

 

The 2020 Minutes, among others, contain the following information:  

 

1. Voting and vote tabulation procedures used in the 2020 meeting (page 2 and Annex B); 

2. The matters discussed and resolutions approved (pages 2 to 5); 

 
14 All the Board Committees, with the exception of the Executive Committee and Executive Compensation Committee held 
meetings in 2020. 
15 All full-time and permanent employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, who have rendered at least one (1) year of 
continuous service on a regular status (one year after regularization) at the Exercise Date (defined under the Plan), are entitled 
to subscribe to shares of the capital stock of the Company under the Plan, subject to the terms and conditions provided therein, 
which subscription shall be subject to the employees’ credit profile.  Members of the Board who are not employees of the 
Company or its subsidiaries are not eligible to participate in the Plan. The named incumbent General Manager and senior 
officers of the Company, as of December 31, 2019, have an aggregate subscription of 106,500 common shares under the Plan. 
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3. A record of the voting results for each agenda item (Annex B); 

4. A list of the directors or trustees, officers and stockholders or members who attended the 

meeting (page 1); 

 

2. Annual Report of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

 

3. Ratification of all acts of the Board of Directors and Officers since the 2020 Regular 

Stockholders’ Meeting, adopted in the ordinary course of business, including those matters taken 

up during Board meetings, as well as those disclosed with the SEC and the PSE and which were 

uploaded in the Company’s website.16 Such acts, include among others, the following: 

 

a) Approval of the audited separate and consolidated financial statements of the Company;17 

b) Election of officers, chairpersons and members of the Board Committees and Lead 

Independent Director;18 

c) Designation of depository banks, approval of authorized signatories and limits for 

corporate transactions of the Company;19 

d) Election of Francis H. Jardeleza as Director;20 

e) Declaration of Dividends;21  

f) Approval of the material related party transactions of the Company;22 and 

g) Redemption of Preferred Shares held by San Miguel Corporation.23  

 

4. Election of Directors inclusive of Minita V. Chico-Nazario as Independent Director. 

5. Appointment of External Auditor.24 

 

VOTING PROCEDURES 

 

 All stockholders as of April 19, 2021 shall have the right to vote during the 2021 RSM. Each 

of the said stockholders shall be entitled to one (1) vote for each share of stock (whether common or 

preferred) in his name in the books of the Company. However, in the election of directors, the nine (9) 

nominees with the greatest number of votes will be elected directors. A stockholder may vote such 

number of shares for as many persons as there are directors to be elected or he may cumulate said 

shares and give one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the 

number of his shares shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same principle among as many 

candidates as he shall see fit, provided, that the total number of votes cast by him shall not exceed the 

number of shares owned by him as shown in the books of the Company multiplied by the whole 

number of directors to be elected. 

 

The approval of proposals or matters submitted to a vote will require an affirmative vote of 

the stockholders representing the majority of the shares of stock present or represented by proxy at the 

meeting. 

 

 
16 Copies of SEC Form 17-C (Current Reports) and other reports filed by the Company with the SEC and PSE in 2020 are 
made available in the Company’s website at the following link: http://ginebrasanmiguel.com/company-disclosures. 
17 This was disclosed by the Company in its SEC Form 17-C dated March 10. 2021. 
18  The Board, during its organizational meeting on June 23, 2020, elected the Company’s President, General Manager, 
Corporate Secretary and Compliance Officer, Treasurer/Chief Finance Officer, Assistant Corporate Secretary and Lead 
Independent Director.  During the said meeting the Chairman and members of the Executive Committee, Audit and Risk 
Oversight Committee, Executive Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance Committee were also elected.  
19 This was disclosed by the Company in its SEC Form 17-C dated June 23, 2020. 
20 This was disclosed by the Company in its SEC Form 17-C dated August 5, 2020. 
21 The Board approved the declaration of cash dividends to stockholders in the amount of Php0.25 per common share and 
Php0.375 per preferred share on March 11, May 27, August 5 and November 4, 2020.  In addition, on December 1, 2020, the 
Board approved the declaration of cash dividends to holders of preferred shares in the amount of Php 0.375 per preferred 
share conformably with the Enabling Resolution of the Board and pursuant to the authority granted to it under the AOI. All the 
aforementioned declarations were disclosed in the Company’s SEC Form 17-C filed on even dates. 
22 The Board during its meeting on August 5,2020 approved the material related party transactions of the Company as 
disclosed in the Advisement Reports that were submitted to the SEC on September 1, 2020. 
23 This was disclosed by the Company in its SEC Form 17-C dated December 1, 2020 and January 4, 2021. 
24  This was disclosed by the Company in its SEC Form 17-C dated March 10. 2021. 
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 Counting of the proxy and ballots will be the method by which votes will be counted.  The 

Corporate Secretary, with the assistance of the Company’s stock transfer agent, SMC Stock Transfer 

Service Corporation, is authorized to count any votes cast for the said meeting. 

 

 

FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION 

 

Brief Description of the General Nature and Business of the Company 

 

Ginebra San Miguel Inc. (the “Company” or “GSMI”) was formed on July 10, 1987 as the 

legal entity for the acquisition by San Miguel Corporation (“SMC”) of the production assets of a 

liquor company that has been in operation since 1902.  The Company now operates three (3) liquor 

bottling facilities located in the following areas: (1) Mandaue City, Cebu; (2) Sta. Barbara, 

Pangasinan; and (3) Cabuyao, Laguna. 

 

The Company is a public company under Section 17.2 of the Securities Regulation Code and 

its common shares are listed with the Philippine Stock Exchange (“PSE”). 

 

The Company, previously a majority-owned direct subsidiary of SMC, whose ultimate parent 

company is Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. (“Top Frontier”), is principally engaged in the 

manufacture and sale of liquor products. The Company by itself, or through its subsidiary, also toll-

manufactures for third parties for the production of the latter’s alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages. 

 

In order to rationalize its businesses, SMC consolidated its food and beverage business under 

San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc. (“SFMB”, formerly San Miguel Pure Foods Company, Inc.) 

through the execution of a Deed of Exchange dated April 5, 2018 executed between SMC and SMFB 

whereby SMC agreed to convey and transfer to SMFB 216,972,000 common shares held by SMC in 

the Company and 7,859,319,270 common shares in San Miguel Brewery Inc.   In consideration of the 

said transfer and upon compliance with government requirements, SMFB issued 4,242,549,130 

common shares in favor of SMC. Consequently, the ownership by SMFB of the common shares 

previously held by SMC in the Company has been registered in the books of the Company on 

November 5, 2018. Thus, the Company is now a majority-owned subsidiary of SMFB.   

 

Domestic Subsidiaries and Operations 

 

The Company has five (5) domestic subsidiaries, namely:  Distileria Bago, Inc. (“DBI”), East 

Pacific Star Bottlers Phils Inc. (“EPSBPI”), Agricrops Industries Inc. (“AII”), Healthy Condiments, 

Inc. (“HCI”) and Crown Royal Distillers, Inc. (“CRDI”).  DBI, EPSBPI and AII are operating 

subsidiaries, hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Domestic Operating Subsidiaries”, while HCI 

and CRDI are non-operating companies. 

 

DBI became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in 1996. On August 14, 2009, DBI 

amended its Articles of Incorporation to include in its primary purposes, the manufacture, production 

and tolling of not only distilled alcohol but also other types of alcohol and their by-products. It owns a 

distillery located in Bago City, Negros Occidental, that converts sugar cane molasses into alcohol.  

 

EPSBPI, on the other hand, is principally engaged in the toll-manufacture and bottling of 

alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages. It was purchased by the Company on January 27, 2012. The 

acquisition forged synergies with the Company’s on-going operations and provided additional 

capacity for the expansion plans of the Company.  EPSBPI owns bottling facilities in Cauayan, 

Isabela and in Ligao City, Albay, which are currently being used principally for the Company’s liquor 

business. 

 

 AII was incorporated on September 14, 2000. It is currently engaged in the manufacture, sale 

and distribution of organic fertilizer from various agro-industrial wastes. 
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International Subsidiaries/Affiliates and Operations 

  

To fast-track entry into regional markets, the Company in November 2004 entered into a 

Share Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with Thai Life Group of Companies (the “Thai Life”) for the 

purchase of 40% ownership of the outstanding shares of C.N.T. Wine and Liquor Company Limited 

(“CNT”), a limited company organized under the laws of Thailand.  CNT possesses a license in 

Thailand to engage in the business of manufacturing alcohol and manufacturing, selling and 

distributing brandy, wine and distilled spirits products both for domestic and export markets.  Also, on 

the same date, the Company and Thai Life entered into a Joint Venture Agreement (“JVA”). The JVA 

established the terms and conditions regarding the ownership and operation of CNT and the joint 

control rights, obligations and responsibilities of the Company and Thai Life, as stockholders.  The 

Company likewise incorporated Ginebra San Miguel International Ltd. (“GSMIL”) and subsequently 

assigned its rights and obligations under the SPA and the JVA to GSMIL, including its right to 

purchase 40% ownership of the outstanding shares of CNT.  The acquisition of CNT was completed 

in December of the same year.  CNT was later renamed Thai San Miguel Liquor Company Limited 

(“TSML”).   

 

On June 29, 2007, the Company incorporated GSM International Holdings Limited 

(“GSMIHL”), a wholly-owned subsidiary in Thailand.  GSMIHL holds 40% of the shares of Thai 

Ginebra Trading Company Limited (“TGT”), another joint venture company formed with Thai Life. 

TGT is the selling and distribution arm of TSML. 

 

On August 27, 2008 and September 11, 2008, the Company incorporated Global Beverages 

Holdings Limited (“GBHL”) and Siam Holdings Limited (“SHL”), respectively, as its wholly-owned 

subsidiaries. Both are entities established as holding companies for the acquisition of additional 

investment in TSML and TGT.  

 

On October 14, 2008, SHL acquired 49% ownership of the outstanding shares of Siam Wine 

and Liquor Limited (“SWL”), a limited company organized under the laws of Thailand. On the same 

date, SWL acquired 10% ownership of the outstanding capital stock of TSML and TGT. Accordingly, 

the share in TSML and TGT of the Company and its subsidiaries was increased from 40% to 44.9%. 

 

The Company and its subsidiaries, domestic and otherwise, and their respective interests in 

joint ventures shall be collectively referred to as the “Group”.  Interest in joint venture is limited to the 

amount of investment and equity in net earnings only. 

  

 Other than the foregoing, there was no bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceeding or 

material reclassification, merger, consolidation, purchase or sale of a significant amount of assets by 

the Group which was not in the ordinary course of business during the past three (3) years.  Other 

developments are also discussed in the Management Discussion and Analysis attached hereto as 

Annex “C”. 

 

Financial Statements 

 

 The audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company as of December 31, 2020 

with Auditor’s Report and Statement of Management’s Responsibility are attached hereto as Annex 

“B”.   

 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation 

 

 The Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation of the Company as of 

December 31, 2020 is attached hereto as Annex “C” 
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Financial Statements as required by Part II (5)(C) of SRC Rule 68, as amended 

 

Considering that the 2021 RSM of the Company will be held beyond one hundred thirty-five 

(135) days from the Company’s fiscal year end, the following documents as of March 31, 2021 are 

attached and collectively marked as Annex “E”: (1) Interim Unaudited Balance Sheet or Statement of 

Financial Position; (2) Statement of Comprehensive Income; (3) Statement of Cash Flows; and (4) 

Statement of Changes in Equity.  

 

 The foregoing documents including the Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of 

Operation of the Company for March 31, 2021 will form part of the Company’s SEC Form 17-Q for 

the 1st quarter of 2021 (the “1st Quarter 2021 SEC Form 17-Q”), which will be filed with SEC on or 

before May 15, 2021 unless filing of the same will be extended by the SEC on a later date, but not 

later than five (5) days before the 2021 RSM.  The Company will upload the 1st Quarter 2021 SEC 

Form 17-Q in its website as soon as the same is filed with the SEC, for ease of access by the 

stockholders. 

 

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures 

 

 There are no disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosures. 

 

Market Price of and Dividends on the Company’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder 

Matters 

 

Market Price 

 

The Company’s common equity is traded in the PSE. The Company’s high and low closing 

prices for each quarter of the last three (2) fiscal years are as follows: 

 

 
 2021 2020 2019 

Quarter High Low High Low High Low 

1st 62.00 48.05 38.80 25.00 29.05 25.00 

2nd - - 37.00 29.00 64.00 28.00 

3rd - - 51.90 30.20 69.80 45.60 

4th - - 59.00 44.80 52.00 37.00 

  

The closing price of the Company’s common shares as of March 31, 2021, the latest 

practicable date, is P50.95 per share. 

 

Dividend Policy and Dividend Declarations 

 

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation (“AOI”) provides for the right of shareholders to 

dividends, as and when declared by the Board at such rate or amount and period, as may be fixed by 

the Board. The AOI also provides that holders of preferred shares are entitled to receive, to the fullest 

extent allowable under the law, dividends at the rate of P1.50 per annum per preferred share, subject 

to certain adjustment. It shall be paid in priority to any dividend or distribution in favor of holders of 

common shares. Dividends on the preferred shares shall be fully cumulative.   

 

On August 8, 2018, the Board passed and approved a Dividend Policy, which is quoted 

hereunder: 

 

“Subject to the relevant provisions of applicable laws and regulations, holders of 

common shares shall be entitled to receive annual cash dividends at such amounts 

up to 50% of the prior year’s recurring net income starting 2019, as may be 

determined by the Company’s Board of Directors (“Board”).  “Recurring net 

income” shall mean net income calculated without respect to extraordinary events 
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that are not expected to recur.  Any dividend declaration and distribution may be 

made over the four (4) quarters of the year.  

 

In considering dividend declarations, the Board shall, in the exercise of its 

discretion and authority, take into consideration dividend payments on the 

preferred shares, debt covenant and restrictions, debt servicing requirements, 

implementation of business plans, operating expenses, budgets, appropriate 

reserves and working capital, major capital expenditure requirements, and funding 

of new investments.  

 

This policy may be amended or modified by the GSMI’s Board at any time.” 

 

Considering the financial condition and operational requirements of the Company, the Board 

did not declare dividends in 2018.  In 2019, the Board approved the declaration of cash dividends to 

stockholders in the amount of Php 0.25 per common share and Php 0.375 per preferred on March 13, 

May 8, August 7 and November 6, 2019. In the same year, the Company also declared cash dividends 

in arrears of seven (7) years (from 2012 to 2018) and one (1) quarter in 2002 at Php 0.375 per 

preferred share to holders thereof on March 13, 2019, conformably with the Enabling Resolution of 

the Board pursuant to the authority granted to it under the AOI. Meanwhile in 2020, the Board 

also approved the declaration of cash dividends to stockholders in the amount of Php 0.25 per 

common share and Php 0.375 per preferred share on March 11, May 27, August 5 and November 4, 

2020. In addition, on December 1, 2020, the Board approved the declaration of cash dividends to 

holders of preferred shares in the amount of Php 0.375 per preferred share conformably with the 

Enabling Resolution of the Board pursuant to the authority granted to it under the AOI. 
 

Common Equity and Related Stockholders’ Matter 

 

 The approximate number of shareholders of common shares as of March 31, 2021 is six 

hundred forty-one (641). 

 

The Company has not sold any unregistered securities or exempt securities, including 

issuance of securities constituting an exempt transaction, within the past three (3) fiscal years. 

Common shares were previously issued by the Company under its Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 

“Plan”), which as confirmed by the SEC in its Resolution dated January 21, 2008, were exempted 

from the registration requirement of the SRC. The shares covered by the Plan are no longer available 

for subscription as the offering period provided therein expired on January 21, 2013. 

 

The top twenty (20) stockholders of the Company as of March 31, 2021 are as follows: 

 

 
Rank Name of Stockholders Common Preferred Total No. of 

Shares 

% of 

Total O/S 

1 San Miguel Food and 

Beverage, Inc. 

216,972,000 0 216,972,000 75.78% 

2 PCD Nominee Corporation 

(Filipino) 

 

46,270,681  

 

0 

 

46,270.681 

 

16.16% 

3 PCD Nominee Corporation 

(Non-Filipino) 

20,810,129 0 20,810,129 7.27% 

4 La Suerte Cigar & 

Cigarette Factory 

200,000 0 200,000 0.07% 

5 Lim Tay 80,000 0 80,000 0.03% 

6 Rosalina A. Lioanag  51,500 0 51,500 0.02% 

7 Roman T. Yap 50,000 0 50,000 0.02% 

8 Emmanuel B. Macalalag  46,500 0 46,500 0.02% 

9 Isabel C. Suntay 31,000 0 31,000 0.01% 

10 Monina N. Cortez 30,000 0 30,000 0.01% 

11 Lucia C. Unsay 30,000 0 30,000 0.01% 
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12 FMF Development 

Corporation  

30,000 0 30,000 0.01% 

13 Cynthia M. Baroy 30,000 0 30,000 0.01% 

14 Estrella M. Tamayo 30,000 0 30,000 0.01% 

15 Romulo G. Quinto 30,000 0 30,000 0.01% 

16 Ma. Consuelo A. Cordero 27,000 0 27,000 0.01% 

17 Edan Corporation 26,100 0 26,100 0.01% 

18 Rolando B. Bisana 25,000 0 25,000 0.01% 

19 Luzviminda C. Santos 

&/or Cynthia C, Santos 

21,000 0 21,000 0.01% 

20 Felicitas Yap Chua 20,000 0 20,000 0.01% 

 

 

Independent Public Accountants 

 

R.G. Manabat & Co. (formerly Manabat Sanagustin & Co., CPAs) has been the Company’s 

external auditor since 2006.  Compliant with Part I (3) (b) (ix) of SRC Rule 68, as amended, with 

respect to the re-engagement of the said audit firm, the Company consistently observes the rule on 

rotation for the signing partner every after five (5) years.  

 

Fees for the services rendered by the external auditor to the Company and its subsidiaries in 

connection with the Company’s annual financial statements and other statutory and regulatory filings 

(inclusive of retainer fees and out-of-pocket expenses) amounted to P8.0 million, P8.1 million, and 

P7.7 million in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.  For non-audit fees, the same amounted to P0.855 

million in 2018. 

 

The Company’s Audit and Risk Oversight Committee, pursuant to its Duties and 

Responsibilities as set forth in its Charter and the Company’s Manual, recommends to the Board the 

appointment of the Company’s external auditor. The said Committee also reviews the terms of 

engagement and scope of services of the external auditor and endorses the same for the approval of 

the Board. It also exercises effective oversight to review and monitor the external auditor’s 

independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, taking into consideration 

relevant Philippine professional and regulatory requirements. 

 

 On March 10, 2021, the Board, upon endorsement of the Audit and Risk Oversight 

Committee, nominated R.G. Manabat & Co. as the Company’s external auditor for 2021. The said 

nomination shall be recommended for approval of the stockholders during the 2021 RSM that will be 

held on May 27, 2021.  The representatives of the said professional firm are expected to participate, 

virtually attend the said meeting and will be available to respond to appropriate questions, if 

necessary. They will also have the opportunity to make a statement, if they so desire. 

 

 

Compliance with Leading Practice on Corporate Governance 

  

The Company, its Board, Management, Officers and employees firmly believe that corporate 

governance is a necessary component of what constitutes sound strategic business management and 

the vital role it plays in attaining corporate goals and creating and sustaining shareholder value.   

  

On August 6, 2002, the Company, through its Board institutionalized the principles of good 

corporate governance in the entire organization by establishing and implementing the Company’s 

Manual on Corporate Governance (the “CG Manual”).  Since its adoption, the CG Manual has been 

amended several times in order to align the provisions thereof with the prevailing issuances, rules and 

circulars of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), the most recent of which is the 

Memorandum Circular No. 19, Series of 2016 (the “Circular”) on the Code of Corporate Governance 

for Publicly-Listed Companies that took effect on January 1, 2017.  Conformably with the Circular, 

the Company formally approved and adopted an amended or new CG Manual on May 9, 2017.  
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The Board, conformably with the amended or new CG Manual and considering the 

Company’s size, risk profile and operations, apart from the Executive Committee, established the 

following three (3) committees: 

 

 (1)  Audit and Risk Oversight Committee (formerly known as the Audit Committee) is tasked 

to perform the functions of the Audit, Board Risk Oversight and Related Party Transactions 

Committees.   

 

(2)  Corporate Governance Committee (which took over the functions of the Nomination and 

Hearing Committee) is mandated to assist the Board in the performance of its corporate governance 

responsibilities, including, among others, the duty to pre-screen and shortlist all candidates nominated 

to become a member of the Board.   

 

(3)   Executive Compensation Committee, which is tasked among others to establish a formal 

and transparent procedure for developing a policy on executive remuneration and for fixing 

remuneration packages of corporate officers and directors. 

 

As for the  Company’s Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (’I-ACGR”), which 

is a tool to disclose publicly-listed companies’ compliance/noncompliance with the recommendations 

provided under the Code of Corporate Governance for Publicly-Listed Companies, which follows the 

“comply or explain” approach, and for harmonizing the corporate governance reportorial 

requirements of the SEC and PSE, the Company complies with the requirements set forth in SEC 

Memorandum Circular No. 15, Series of 2017.  The Company submitted its 2019 I-ACGR to SEC on 

August 20, 2020.  For its 2020 I-ACGR, it will be submitted to the SEC not later than May 31, 2021, 

and shall be made available at its website. 

 

All incumbent directors and officers of the Company, including the Internal Audit Group 

Head, attended a Corporate Governance Seminar conducted by SEC-accredited providers: R.G. 

Manabat & Co (KPMG), Risk, Opportunities, Assessment and Management (ROAM), Inc., SGV & 

Co. and Center for Global Best Practices, in compliance with the requirement of the SEC. The 

seminars were conducted via videoconferencing in view of the current Covid-19 pandemic.  

 

 

The members of the Board also accomplished an Internal Self-Rating Form (the “Form”) for 

the purpose of evaluating the Board’s performance for 2020.  The Form covers four (4) broad areas of 

Board Performance: (1) Fulfillment of the Board’s Key Responsibilities; (2) Board-Management 

Relationship; (3) Effectiveness of Board Processes and Meetings; and (4) Individual Performance of 

Board Members. The Form requires the Board members to read each statement and rank their 

response on the 5-point scale directly below each statement with “1” indicating that they strongly 

disagree with the statement and “5” indicating that they strongly agree with the statement.  Additional 

space is also provided for their comments. Based on the accomplished Form, the Board has 

substantially met its mandate. 

 

The members of the Audit and Risk Oversight Committee also accomplished an Internal Self-

Rating form for the purpose of evaluating the said Committee’s performance for 2020.  The Form 

covers the following areas: (1) Structure, Operation and Reporting Process; (2) Oversight on Financial 

Statements and Financial Reporting; (3) Oversight on Internal Controls and Risk Management; (4) 

Oversight on Internal Audit; (5) Oversight on External Audit; and (6) Compliance with Legal and 

Regulatory Requirements. The Form requires the said Committee members to read each statement and 

rank their response on the 5-point scale directly below each statement with “1” indicating that they 

strongly disagree with the statement and “5” indicating that they strongly agree with the statement.  

Additional space is also provided for their comments. Based on the accomplished Forms, the said 

Committee has also substantially met its mandate. 
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UNDERTAKING 

 

The Company will post the full version of its SEC Form 20-IS or the Definitive 

Information Statement (the “DIS”) together with all its annexes, including the 2020 Audited 

Consolidated Financial Statements, upon its approval by the SEC, as well as its SEC Form 17-

A, in the Company’s website and in the PSE Edge. 

 

The Company will likewise post a copy of the Interim Unaudited Financial Statements 

with Management Discussion & Analysis for the 1st Quarter of 2021 (the “Reports”) or the 

Company’s SEC Form 17-Q for the 1st Quarter of 2021 in the Company’s website on or before 

May 15, 2021, unless submission of the same will be extended by the SEC on a later date, but 

not later than five (5) calendar days before the meeting. The Company shall also immediately 

cause the publication once in two (2) newspapers of general circulation of a notice about the 

Reports or the Company’s SEC Form 17-Q.  

 

The foregoing documents may be accessed by the stockholders specifically through the 

link http://ginebrasanmiguel.com/company-disclosures/. 

 

Upon the written request of a stockholder, and when circumstances permit, the 

Company undertakes to furnish the stockholder a copy of the full version of the DIS and/or its 

SEC Form 17-A and/or the Reports or SEC Form 17-Q.  Any of the foregoing requests, which 

shall be provided by the Company free of charge, should be in writing and addressed to: 

  

 

SMC Stock Transfer Service Corporation 

2nd Floor, San Miguel Corporation 

No. 40 San Miguel Avenue, Mandaluyong City, 

1550 Metro Manila, Philippines 

 

 

SIGNATURE 

 

 After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the 

information set forth in this report is true, complete and correct. This report is signed in the City of 

Mandaluyong on April 28, 2021. 

 

 

      GINEBRA SAN MIGUEL INC. 

  

      By:  

 

                  Virgilio S. Jacinto   

                                    Corporate Secretary 

 

 

 

 

http://ginebrasanmiguel.com/company-disclosures/
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

 
 
This discussion summarizes the significant factors affecting the consolidated financial performance, 
financial position and cash flows of Ginebra San Miguel Inc. (“the Parent Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the three-year period ended December 31, 
2020.  The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the attached audited consolidated 
statements of financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related 
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020.  All necessary adjustments to present fairly 
the Group’s consolidated financial position as of December 31, 2020 and the financial performance 
and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020 and for all the other periods presented, have 
been made.   

 
I. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 
Statement of Compliance 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). PFRS are based on International Financial 
Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). PFRS 
consist of PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Philippine Interpretations issued by 
the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC). 

 
Basis of Measurement  
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a historical cost basis 
of accounting except for the following items which are measured on an alternative basis at each 
reporting date: 

 
Items Measurement Basis 
Financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss (FVPL) 
Fair value 

Defined benefit retirement asset (liability) Fair value of the plan assets less 
the present value of the defined 
benefit retirement obligation 

  
 
Functional and Presentation Currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the functional 
currency of the Company. All financial information are rounded off to the nearest millions 
(000,000), except when otherwise indicated. 

 
Significant Accounting Policies  
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
the consolidated financial statements, except for the changes in accounting policies as explained 
below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  Annex “C” 
 

GSMI 2020 Full Year Management’s Discussion and Analysis Page 2 of 12 
 

 
Adoption of Amended Standards and Framework 
 
The FRSC approved the adoption of a number of amended standards and framework as 
part of PFRS. 
 
The Group has adopted the following PFRS effective January 1, 2020 and accordingly, 
changed its accounting policies in the following areas: 
 
▪ Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in PFRS sets out amendments 

to PFRS, their accompanying documents and PFRS practice statements to reflect the 
issuance of the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting in 2018 (2018 
Conceptual Framework). The 2018 Conceptual Framework includes:(a) a new chapter 
on measurement; (b) guidance on reporting financial performance; (c) improved 
definitions of an asset and a liability, and guidance supporting these definitions; and 
(d) clarifications in important areas, such as the roles of stewardship, prudence and 
measurement uncertainty in financial reporting.  
 
Some standards, their accompanying documents and PFRS practice statements 
contain references to, or quotations from, the International Accounting Standards 
Committee’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements 
adopted by the IASB in 2001 or the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 
issued in 2010. The amendments update some of those references and quotations so 
that they refer to the 2018 Conceptual Framework and make other amendments to 
clarify which version of the Conceptual Framework is referred to in particular 
documents. 

 
▪ Definition of a Business (Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations).   

The amendments narrowed and clarified the definition of a business.  
The amendments also permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of 
activities and assets is a group of assets rather than a business. The amendments: (a) 
confirmed that a business must include inputs and a process, and clarified that the 
process must be substantive and the inputs and process must together significantly 
contribute to creating outputs; (b) narrowed the definition of a business by focusing the 
definition of outputs on goods and services provided to customers and other income 
from ordinary activities, rather than on providing dividends or other economic benefits 
directly to investors or lowering costs; and (c) added a test that makes it easier to 
conclude that a company has acquired a group of assets, rather than a business, if the 
value of the assets acquired is substantially all concentrated in a single asset or group 
of similar assets. 
 

▪ Definition of Material (Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 
and PAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors). The 
amendments refine the definition of material. The amended definition of material states 
that such information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably 
be expected to influence the decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide 
financial information about a specific reporting entity. The amendments clarify the 
definition of what is considered material and its application by: (a) raising the threshold 
at which information becomes material by replacing the term ‘could influence’ with 
‘could reasonably be expected to influence’ ; (b) including the concept of ‘obscuring 
information’ alongside the concept of ‘omitting’ and ‘misstating’ information in the 
definition; (c) clarifying that the users to which the definition refers are the primary users 
of general purpose financial statements referred to in the Conceptual Framework; (d) 
clarifying the explanatory paragraphs accompanying the definition; and (e) aligning the 
wording of the definition of what is considered material across PFRS and other 
publications. The amendments are expected to help entities make better materiality 
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judgments without substantively changing existing requirements. 
 
▪ Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, 

PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and PFRS 7, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures). The amendments provide temporary exceptions to all 
hedging relationships directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform - the market-
wide reform of an interest rate benchmark, including the replacement of an interest rate 
benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate such as that resulting from the 
recommendations set out in the Financial Stability Board's July 2014 report 'Reforming 
Major Interest Rate Benchmarks'. The exceptions relate to the following requirements:  
 
o The Highly Probable Requirement. When determining whether a forecast 

transaction is highly probable, an entity shall assume that the interest rate 
benchmark on which the hedged cash flows are based is not altered as a result of 
the reform.  

 
o Prospective Assessments. When performing prospective assessments, a 

company shall assume that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged item, 
hedged risk and/or hedging instrument are based is not altered as a result of the 
interest rate benchmark reform.  

 
o PAS 39 Retrospective Assessment. An entity is not required to undertake the PAS 

39 retrospective assessment for hedging relationships directly affected by the 
reform. However, the entity must comply with all other PAS 39 hedge accounting 
requirements, including the prospective assessment.  

 
o Separately Identifiable Risk Components. For hedges of a non-contractually 

specified benchmark component of interest rate risk, an entity shall apply the 
separately identifiable requirement only at the inception of such hedging 
relationships.  

 
An entity shall cease applying the exceptions when the uncertainty arising from interest 
rate benchmark reform is no longer present with respect to the timing and the amount 
of the interest rate benchmark-based cash flows or the hedging relationship is 
discontinued. End of application does not apply to the test for separately identifiable 
risk components. 
 
Specific disclosure requirements apply to hedging relationships affected by the 
amendments including information about the significant interest rate benchmarks, 
extent of risk exposure directly affected by the reform, how the entity manages the 
process to transition to alternative benchmark rates, significant assumptions and 
judgements made in applying the exceptions, and the nominal amount of the hedging 
instruments in those hedging relationships. 

 
The Group has early adopted the below PFRS effective June 1, 2020 and accordingly, 
changed its accounting policy: 
 
▪ Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) - Related Rent Concessions (Amendments to 

PFRS 16, Leases). The amendments introduce an optional practical expedient that 
simplifies how a lessee accounts for rent concessions that are a direct consequence 
of COVID-19. A lessee that applies the practical expedient is not required to assess 
whether eligible rent concessions are lease modifications, and accounts for them in 
accordance with other applicable guidance. The practical expedient applies if:   
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o the revised consideration is substantially the same or less than the original 
consideration; 

 
o the reduction in lease payments relates to payments due on or before  

June 30, 2021; and 
 
o no other substantive changes have been made to the terms of the lease. 

 
The Group has applied the amendment retrospectively. 
 
The adoption of the amended standards and framework did not have a material effect on 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 

II. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
 

2020 vs. 2019 
 
GSMI ended 2020 on a stronger note as consolidated revenue grew 25% to P36,202 million from 
P29,063 million of last year, driven by higher volume and price increase.  Similarly, cost of sales 
increased by 28% from year ago, mainly due to higher volume and increase in excise taxes.  This 
resulted to gross profit or P9,209 million which is 16% higher than 2019.  The 12% increase in 
general and administrative expense was mainly brought about by the impairment provision for 
receivable. 
 
Interest expense and other financing charges improved versus last year driven by the significant 
decline in interest-bearing liabilities.   
 
No further losses on equity investment in joint ventures was recognized in 2020.  
 
On the other hand, retirement of various assets brought about the loss on disposal/retirement of 
property, plant and equipment and other noncurrent assets – net amounting to P15 million in 2020. 
 
The increase for other income was due to the recognized marked-to-market gains and higher 
tolling income. 
 
As a result, the Group achieved a consolidated net income of P2,757 million, higher by 65% versus 
last year. 
 
 
2019 vs. 2018 
 
GSMI demonstrated strong performance in 2019 with sales revenue of P29,063 million, 17% 
higher than prior year, driven by the higher demand for its flagship brand, Ginebra San Miguel.   
 
The decrease in alcohol costs and sustained operational efficiencies of bottling and distillery 
plants, resulted to a gross profit margin of 27% which was 1 point better than last year. 
 
Sustained sales growth, coupled with effective variable and fixed cost management, brought 
consolidated operating income to P2,878 million, 57% higher than last year. 
 
Decrease in interest expense was mainly due to the continuous reduction of interest-bearing 
liabilities.  On the other hand, increase in equity in net losses of joint venture primarily represents 
the losses incurred by Thailand entities. 
 
Other income was up by P108 million than year ago as a result of higher tolling fees and net 
derivative gains. 
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III. FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

2020 vs. 2019 
 
Cash balance of P2,820 million, an upturn of P2,465 billion from a year ago was mainly due to 
higher operating income and collections. This is also evident in the decrease in accounts 
receivable by 39% ending at P954 million in 2020.   
 
Higher excise tax prepayments and net derivative gains resulted to the increase in prepaid taxes 
and other current assets by 7%. 
 
Total noncurrent assets amounted to P5,180 million, with a 7% fall from last year due to fixed 
assets and other noncurrent assets depreciation and amortization, as well as translation 
adjustments on investments in joint venture. 
 
Strong cash flows enabled the Company to pay off debts, reducing interest-bearing loans such as 
notes payable and long-term debt (net of debt issue cost) to 100% and 49%, respectively. 
 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses ended at P5,146 million, P938 million higher than year 
ago, on account of several alcohol purchases towards year end. 
 
Lease liabilities amounting to P178 million, decreased by P50 million due to rental payment of 
capitalizable leases.   
 
2019 vs. 2018 
 
Cash and cash equivalent increased by 58% to P354 million in 2019 as a result of effective 
collection of accounts receivable and cash on delivery arrangements with customers.   
 
Inventories amounting to P6,113 million, 57% higher than last year, was largely driven by 
purposive inventory buildup, resulting to higher finished goods inventory in the last quarter of 2019 
in anticipation of 2020 excise tax hike.  As a result of the buildup, accounts payable and accrued 
expenses increased by 55% vs prior year. 
 
On the other hand, part of the cash collections were also utilized to settle interest-bearing loans, 
which decreased by P957 million and P118 million, respectively. 
 
As a result of the adoption of PFRS 16, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were recognized in 
2019 amounting to P196 million and P226 million, respectively. 
 
The Company’s robust operational performance in 2019 enabled to strengthen its financial position 
and paid out cash dividend to preferred and common shareholders amounting to P692 million. 
 

IV. Sources and Uses of Cash 
 

A brief summary of cash flow movements is shown below: 
 
    December 31 
 2020 2019 
 (in Millions) 
Net cash flows provided by operating activities P5,179 P2,325 
Net cash flows used in investing activities (388)  (353) 
Net cash flows used in financing activities (2,322) (1,841) 

 
Net cash flows provided by operating activities consist of income before income tax for the period 
and the effect of changes in current assets and certain current liabilities, and others. 
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Net cash flows used in investing activities include the following: 
 

 
    December 31 
 2020 2019 
 (in Millions) 
Additions to property, plant and equipment                                          (P403)                 (P387) 
Decrease in other noncurrent assets                       13  32    
Proceeds from sale of investments and property 
and equipment                                                                                                3 2 

 
 

Major components of net cash flows used in financing activities are as follows: 
 
    December 31 
 2020 2019 
 (in Millions) 
Proceeds from short-term and long-term borrowings                P2,160            P7,714 
Payments of short-term and long-term borrowings        (4,066)       (8,789) 
Cash dividends paid                     (329) (687) 
Payments of lease liabilities                      (87)            (80) 

 
The effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents amounted to (P3.5) million 
and (P0.77) million for the periods ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
 

V. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 
The following are the major performance measures used by the Group.  Analyses are employed 
by comparisons and measurements based on the financial data of the current period against the 
same period of previous year. Please refer to Item II, “Financial Performance” of the Management 
Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), for the discussion of certain computed Key Performance 
Indicators.  
 

KPI As of December 31, 2020 As of December 31, 2019 
 

Liquidity: 
 Current Ratio 

 

 
1.90 

 

 
1.43 

 

Solvency: 
 Debt to Equity Ratio 
 Asset to Equity Ratio 
 

 

 
0.70 
1.70 

 

 
1.05 
2.05 

 

Profitability: 
 Return on Average Equity  
 Interest Rate Coverage 
  Ratio 
 

 

 
33% 

 
33.48 

 

 
25% 

 
16.27 

   
 For the Year Ended 

December 31, 2020 
For the Year Ended 
December 31, 2019 

 

Operating Efficiency: 
  Volume Growth 
  Revenue Growth 
  Operating Margin 
 

 

 
8% 

25% 
11% 

 

 
14% 
17% 
10% 
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The manner by which the Group calculates the above indicators is as follows: 
 

KPI Formula 

Current Ratio 
       

Current Assets     

      Liabilities     

DebttoEquity Ratio  

 
Total Liabilities (Current + Noncurrent) 

 
Equity 

 

Asset to Equity Ratio  

 
 

Total Assets (Current + Noncurrent) 
 

Equity 

 

Return on Average Equity 
   

Net Income   

  Average Equity   

 
Interest Rate Coverage Ratio 

 

 
Earnings Before Interests and Taxes 

 
Interest Expense and Other Financing Charges 

 

 

Volume Growth 
    

( 

 
Sum of All Businesses' 

Volume ) - 1 
    

    Prior Period Volume     

Revenue Growth 
    

( 
 

Current Period Net Sales ) - 1 
    

    Prior Period Net Sales      

Operating Margin 
 

 
Income from Operating Activities   

 Net Sales   
 
 

VI. OTHER MATTERS 
 

a. Commitments  
 

The outstanding purchase commitments of the Group amounted to US$97 million (P4,646 
million), as of December 31, 2020. 

 
b. Contingencies 

 
The Group is a party to certain lawsuits or claims (mostly labor related cases) filed by third 
parties which are either pending decision by the courts or are subject to settlement 
agreements. The outcome of these lawsuits or claims cannot be presently determined. In 
the opinion of management and its legal counsel, the eventual liability from these lawsuits 
or claims, if any, will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
No provision was recognized in 2020, 2019 and 2018. 
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1. Tax Cases Pending with the Court of Tax Appeals (“CTA”) 
 
Ginebra San Miguel Inc. vs. Commissioner of Internal Revenue 
CTA Case Nos. 8953 and 8954 (Consolidated) 
 

These cases pertain to GSMI’s Claims for Refund with the BIR, in the amount 
of P581.7 million in Case No. 8953, and P133.6 million in Case No. 8954, or in the total 
amount of P715.3 million, representing payments of excise tax erroneously, 
excessively, illegally, and/or wrongfully assessed on and collected from GSMI by the 
BIR on removals of its distilled spirits or finished products for the periods from January 
1, 2013 up to May 31 2013 in Case No. 8953, and from January 8, 2013 up to March 
31, 2013 in Case No. 8954. 
 

The aforementioned assessment and collection arose from the imposition and 
collection of excise taxes on GSMI’s finished products processed and produced 
exclusively from its inventory of ethyl alcohol, notwithstanding that excise taxes had 
already been previously paid by GSMI on said ethyl alcohol. 

 
After several hearings and presentation of evidence, both parties filed their 

respective Formal Offers of Evidence.  The CTA admitted all of GSMI’s evidence while 
the BIR’s Formal Offer of Evidence and GSMI’s Comment thereto are still under 
consideration of the CTA. 
 

On July 28, 2020, the CTA rendered its decision and denied GSMI’s Petition 
for Review. GSMI received the said decision on August 24, 2020, for which it timely 
filed a Motion for Reconsideration on the aforementioned decision on September 2, 
2020, to which the Commissioner of Internal Revenue filed its Opposition. 
 

The CTA rendered an Amended Decision dated February 1, 2021 wherein the 
Third Division of the Court of Tax Appeals partially granted GSMI’s Motion for 
Reconsideration and ruled that GSMI is entitled to a refund of its erroneously and 
excessively paid excise taxes in the amount of P319,755 out of GSMI’s original claim 
of P715,259. 
 

On February 22, 2021, GSMI filed a Motion for Reconsideration to the 
Amended Decision, which is still pending any action from the CTA. 
 
Ginebra San Miguel Inc. vs. Commissioner of Internal Revenue 
CTA Case No. 9059 
CTA En Banc 
 

This case pertains to GSMI’s Claim for Refund with the BIR, in the total amount 
of P26.2 million, representing payments of excise tax erroneously, excessively, illegally, 
and/or wrongfully assessed on and collected from GSMI by the BIR on removals of its 
distilled spirits or finished products for the period from June 1, 2013 up to July 31, 2013. 
 

The aforementioned assessment and collection arose from the imposition and 
collection of excise taxes on GSMI’s finished products processed and produced 
exclusively from its inventory of ethyl alcohol, notwithstanding that excise taxes had 
already been previously paid by GSMI on the said ethyl alcohol. 
 

After presentation of its testimonial and documentary evidence, GSMI filed its 
Formal Offer of Evidence and Supplemental Offer of Evidence, which were all admitted 
by the CTA.  BIR’s presentation of evidence was set to January 23, 2019. 

 
In a decision dated February 6, 2019, the CTA denied the GSMI’s Claim from 

Refund for insufficiency of evidence.  On February 20, 2020, GSMI filed a Motion for 
Reconsideration of the said decision. However, the Motion for Reconsideration was 
denied by the CTA on June 9, 2020. On August 28, 2020, GSMI elevated the case to 
the CTA En Banc by way of a Petition for Review. On January 5, 2021, the CTA En 
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Banc issued a Resolution giving due course to GSMI’s Petition for Review and stating 
that the case is now deemed submitted for decision. 

 
 

2. Intellectual Property Cases Pending with the Supreme Court (“SC”) 
 

In a Resolution dated January 14, 2019, the SC Third Division resolved to 
consolidate all the cases enumerated below.  The cases are still pending with the said 
division of the SC. 
 
Ginebra San Miguel Inc. vs. Director General of the Intellectual Property Office 
G.R. No. 196372 
SC – En Banc 

 
This case pertains to GSMI’s application for the registration of the trademark 

“GINEBRA” under Class 33 covering gin with the Intellectual Property Office of the 
Philippines (IPOPHL).  The IPOPHL rejected GSMI’s application on the ground that 
“GINEBRA” is a Spanish word for gin, and is a generic term incapable of appropriation. 

 
When the Court of Appeals (CA) affirmed the IPOPHL’s ruling, GSMI filed a 

Petition for Review on Certiorari (the “Petition”) with the SC.  The SC denied GSMI’s 
Petition.  GSMI moved for a reconsideration thereof, and likewise filed a Motion to Refer 
its Motion for Reconsideration to the SCEn Banc.  The SC denied GSMI’s Motion for 
Reconsideration with finality, as well as GSMI’s Motion to Refer to its Motion for 
Reconsideration to the SC En Banc. 

 
Subsequently, GSMI filed a Manifestation with Motion for Relief from Judgment 

(the “Manifestation”) and invoked the case of “League of Cities vs. Commission of 
Elections” (G.R. Nos. 176951, 177499 and 178056) to invite the SC En Banc to re-
examine the case. The Office of the Solicitor General filed its Comment Opposition to 
the Manifestation. 

 
On June 26, 2018, the SC En Banc Issued a Resolution which resolves to: (a) 

Accept the subject case which was referred to it by the Third Division in the latter’s 
resolution dated August 7, 2017; (b) Treat as a Second Motion for Reconsideration (of 
the resolution dated June 22, 2011) GSMI’s Manifestation with Motion for Relief from 
Judgment dated November 28, 2011; (c) Reinstate the Petition; and (d) Require the 
respondents to Comment on the Petition within a non-extendible period of ten (10) days 
from notice thereof. 

 
Respondents, through the OSG, filed their Comment dated July 31, 2018 while 

GSMI filed its Reply with Leave on August 20, 2018. 
 
On January 4, 2019, the SC Third Division issued a Resolution ordering the 

consolidation of the previously consolidated cases (G.R. Nos. 216104, 210224 and 
219632) with the En Banc case (G.R. No. 196372), stating that “considering that all 
these cases involve identical parties and raise interrelated issues which ultimately 
stemmed from the registration of trademark of [TDI] and [GSMI] before the [IPO].” 

 
On February 3, 2020, GSMI filed a Manifestation with the Supreme Court Third 

Division, informing the Court that on January 27, 2020, it received a copy of a Decision 
dated December 27, 2019 rendered by the IPO Director General in the consolidated 
appealed cases involving GSMI’s Oppositions to TDI’s applications for the registration 
of the marks “Ginebra Lime & Device,” “Ginebra Orange & Device,” “Ginebra Especial 
& Device” and “Ginebra Pomelo & Device”, for use on gin products. In the joint Decision, 
the IPO Director General ruled in favor of GSMI and held that despite being generic or 
descriptive, the term “GINEBRA” had already attained a secondary meaning in relation 
to the gin products of GSMI. The Manifestation was filed to inform the Supreme Court 
Third Division of the status of cases in IPOPHL which involve GSMI’s claim over 
“GINEBRA”. 
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In a Resolution dated March 10, 2020, the Supreme Court En Banc resolved 

to transfer the consolidated cases from the Third Division to the En Banc. Furthermore, 
the Supreme Court En Banc also noted GSMI’s Manifestation dated February 3, 2020 
on the IPO Director General’s Decision dated December 27, 2019. 

 
 

Tanduay Distillers, Inc. vs. Ginebra San Miguel Inc. 
G.R. Nos. 210224 and 219632 
SC - Third Division 

 
These cases pertains to GSMI’s Complaint for Unfair Competition, Trademark 

Infringement and Damages against Tanduay Distillers, Inc. (TDI) filed with the Regional 
Trial Court (RTC), arising from TDI’s distribution and sale of its gin product bearing the 
trademark “Ginebra Kapitan” and use of a bottle design, which general appearance was 
nearly identical and confusingly similar to GSMI’s product. The RTC dismissed GSMI’s 
complaint. 

 
When GSMI elevated the case to the CA, due to technicalities, two (2) cases 

were lodged in the CA: 1.) Petition for Review (CA-G.R. SP No. 127255), and 2.) Appeal 
(CA-G.R. SP No. 100332). 

 
Acting on GSMI’s Petition for Review, the CA reversed, set aside the RTC’s 

Decision, and ruled that “GINEBRA” is associated by the consuming public with GSMI.  
Giving probative value to the surveys submitted by GSMI, the CA ruled that TDI’s use 
of “GINEBRA” in “GinebraKapitan” produces a likelihood of confusion between GSMI’s 
“Ginebra San Miguel” gin product and TDI’s “GinebraKapitan” gin product.  The CA 
likewise ruled that “TDI knew fully well that GSMI has been using the mark/word 
“GINEBRA” in its gin products and that GSMI’s “Ginebra San Miguel” has already 
obtained, over the years, a considerable number of loyal customers who associate the 
mark “GINEBRA” with GSMI. 

 
On the other hand, upon GSMI’s Appeal, the CA also set aside the RTC’s 

Decision and ruled that “GINEBRA” is not a generic term there being no evidence to 
show that an ordinary person in the Philippines would know that “GINEBRA” is a 
Spanish word for “gin”.  According to the CA, because of GSMI’s use of the term in the 
Philippines since the 1800s, the term “GINEBRA” now exclusively refers to GSMI’s gin 
products and to GSMI as a manufacturer.  The CA added that “the mere use of the 
word “GINEBRA” in “GinebraKapitan” is sufficient to incite an average person, even a 
gin-drinker, to associate it with GSMI’s gin product,” and that TDI “has designed its 
bottle and label to somehow make a colourable similarity with the bottle and label of 
Ginebra S. Miguel”. 

 
TDI filed separate Petitions for Review on Certiorari with the SC, docketed as 

G.R. Nos. 210224 and 219632, which were eventually consolidated by the SC on April 
18, 2016.   

 
On October 26, 2016, GSMI filed its Comment TDI’s Petition for Review on 

Certiorari. 
 
On December 17, 2018, the SC consolidated this case with Ginebra San Miguel 

Inc. vs. Court of Appeals, Director General of the Intellectual Property Office, and 
Director of the Bureau of Trademarks (G.R. No. 196372). 

 
On February 3, 2020, GSMI filed a Manifestation with the Supreme Court Third 

Division, informing the Court that on January 27, 2020, it received a copy of a Decision 
dated December 27, 2019 rendered by the IPO Director General in the consolidated 
appealed cases involving GSMI’s Oppositions to TDI’s applications for the registration 
of the marks “Ginebra Lime & Device,” “Ginebra Orange & Device,” “Ginebra Especial 
& Device” and “Ginebra Pomelo & Device”, for use on gin products. In the joint Decision, 
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the IPO Director General ruled in favor of GSMI and held that despite being generic or 
descriptive, the term “GINEBRA” had already attained a secondary meaning in relation 
to the gin products of GSMI. The Manifestation was filed to inform the Supreme Court 
Third Division of the status of cases in IPOPHL which involve GSMI’s claim over 
“GINEBRA”. 

 
In a Resolution dated March 10, 2020, the Supreme Court En Banc resolved 

to transfer the consolidated cases from the Third Division to the En Banc. Furthermore, 
the Supreme Court En Banc also noted GSMI’s Manifestation dated February 3, 2020 
on the IPO Director General’s Decision dated December 27, 2019. 

 
 

Tanduay Distillers, Inc. vs. Ginebra San Miguel Inc. 
G.R. No. 216104 
SC – Third Division 

  
This case pertains to TDI’s application for the registration of the trademark 

“GINEBRA KAPITAN” for Class 33 covering gin with the IPOPHL. 
 
GSMI opposed TDI’s application, alleging that it would be damaged by the 

registration of “GINEBRA KAPITAN” because the term “GINEBRA” has acquired a 
secondary meaning and is now exclusively associated with GSMI’s gin products.  GSMI 
argued that the registration of “GINEBRA KAPITAN” for use in TDI’s gin products will 
confuse the public and cause damage to GSMI.  TDI countered that “GINEBRA” is 
generic and incapable of exclusive appropriation, and that “GINEBRA KAPITAN” is not 
identical or confusingly similar to GSMI’s mark. 

 
The IPOPHL ruled in favor of TDI and held that: (a) “GINEBRA” is generic for 

“gin”; (b) GSMI’s products are too well known for the purchasing public to be deceived 
by a new product like “GINEBRA KAPITAN”; and (c) TDI’s use of “GINEBRA” would 
supposedly stimulate market competition. 

 
On July 23, 2014, the CA reversed and set aside the IPOPHL’s ruling and 

disapproved the registration of “GINEBRA KAPITAN”.  The CA ruled that “GINEBRA” 
could not be considered as a generic word in the Philippines considering that, to the 
Filipino gin-drinking public, it does not relate to a class of liquor/alcohol but rather has 
come to refer specifically and exclusively to the gin products of GSMI. 

 
TDI filed a Petition for Review on Certiorari with the SC, which was 

subsequently consolidated with the case of “Tanduay Distillers, Inc. vs. Ginebra San 
Miguel Inc.”, docketed as G.R. No. 210224 on August 5, 2015.   

 
On October 26, 2016, GSMI filed its Comment on TDI’s Petition for Review on 

Certiorari. 
On December 17, 2018, the SC consolidated this case with Ginebra San Miguel 

Inc. vs. Court of Appeals, Director General of the Intellectual Property Office, and 
Director of the Bureau of Trademarks(G.R. No. 196372). 

 
On February 3, 2020, GSMI filed a Manifestation with the Supreme Court Third 

Division, informing the Court that on January 27, 2020, it received a copy of a Decision 
dated December 27, 2019 rendered by the IPO Director General in the consolidated 
appealed cases involving GSMI’s Oppositions to TDI’s applications for the registration 
of the marks “Ginebra Lime & Device,” “Ginebra Orange & Device,” “Ginebra Especial 
& Device” and “Ginebra Pomelo & Device”, for use on gin products. In the joint Decision, 
the IPO Director General ruled in favor of GSMI and held that despite being generic or 
descriptive, the term “GINEBRA” had already attained a secondary meaning in relation 
to the gin products of GSMI. The Manifestation was filed to inform the Supreme Court 
Third Division of the status of cases in IPOPHL which involve GSMI’s claim over 
“GINEBRA”. 
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In a Resolution dated March 10, 2020, the Supreme Court En Banc resolved 
to transfer the consolidated cases from the Third Division to the En Banc. Furthermore, 
the Supreme Court En Banc also noted GSMI’s Manifestation dated February 3, 2020 
on the IPO Director General’s Decision dated December 27, 2019. 

 
 

3. Case Pending with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
 
Josefina Multi-Ventures Corporation vs. San Miguel Corporation, 
San Miguel Food and Beverage, Inc. and Ginebra San Miguel Inc. 
SEC Case No. 05-18-468 
 

Josefina Multi-Ventures Corporation (the “Petitioner”), one of the stockholders 
of GSMI, filed a petition against SMC, SMFB and GSMI, docketed as SEC Case No. 
05-18-468 (the “Petition”), questioning the share swap transaction between SMFB and 
SMC relative, among others to, the transfer of SMC’s common shares in GSMI in 
exchange of SMFB’s common shares.  

 
The Petition sought (i) to declare null and void: (a) the share swap transaction 

between SMFB and SMC involving the transfer of SMC’s common shares in SMB and 
GSMI and in consideration therefor, the issuance of new SMFB common shares from 
the increase in SMFB’s capital stock; and, (b) SMFB’s Certificate of Approval of 
Increase of Capital Stock and Certificate of Filing of Amended Articles of Incorporation 
(amending Article VII thereof) issued by the SEC on June 29, 2018; or (ii) in the 
alternative, for SMFB to be directed to conduct a mandatory tender offer under Section 
19 of the Securities Regulation Code for the benefit of the remaining shareholders of 
GSMI. 

 
In a decision dated February 19, 2019, the SEC dismissed the Petition and 

ruled, among others, that the share swap transaction is not subject to the mandatory 
tender offer rule since there was no acquisition of control between SMC and its 
subsidiaries SMB and GSMI. The Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the 
said decision, which was denied on May 30, 2019. 

 
The Petitioner filed an Appeal Memorandum dated June 18, 2019 with the SEC 

En Banc, which is still pending resolution.  
 

In a decision dated September 14, 2020, the SEC En Banc denied the Appeal 
Memorandum filed by Josefina for lack of merit. 

 
c. Foreign Exchange Rates 

 
The foreign exchange rates used in translating the Thai Baht accounts of foreign joint 
ventures to Philippine peso were closing rates of P1.60 and P1.70 in 2020 and 2019, 
respectively, for consolidated statements of financial position accounts; and average rates 
of P1.60, P1.68 and P1.61 in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, for income and expense 
accounts. 
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MINUTES OF THE 
REGULAR ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 

OF GINEBRA SAN MIGUEL INC. 

June 23, 2020|Tuesday| 2:00 P.M.  
 

 
The Regular Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of the Company (“Meeting”) 

was conducted via remote communication and livestreamed at the Company’s 
website:  http://www.ginebrasanmiguel.com. Stockholders of record at the 
close of business hours on May 15, 2020 were entitled to vote at this Meeting 
and validated ballots and proxies were considered for purposes of determining 
the quorum and voting results.  These are in accordance with the Notice of the  

Meeting and the Information Statement of the Company that were posted in the  
Company’s website and in the PSE Edge. 
 
 
Directors Present: 

 
Ramon S. Ang  
Francisco S. Alejo III 
Aurora T. Calderon 

Leo S. Alvez 
Gabriel S. Claudio 
Mario K. Surio 
Minita V. Chico-Nazario – Independent Director 
Aurora S. Lagman – Independent Director 

 
 
In attendance:  
 
Ferdinand K. Constantino, SMC Senior Vice President  

and Chief Finance Officer 
Virgilio S. Jacinto, GSMI Corporate Secretary  

and Compliance Officer 
Emmanuel B. Macalalag, GSMI General Manager 

Cynthia M. Baroy, GSMI Chief Finance Officer 
Conchita P. Jamora, GSMI General Counsel  

and Asst. Corporate Secretary 
Maila N. Pagsanhan, GSMI Associate Legal Counsel 
Noel A. Baladiang, Partner, R.G. Manabat & Co. 

Reyna-Beth D. De Guzman, Investor Relations Officer 
Noel A. Baladiang, Partner, R.G. Manabat & Co.   
 
   

Management Committee Members: 
 
Noel T. Callanta 
Charity Anne A. Chiong 
Teodorico T. Lasin 

Allan P. Mercado 
Eileen C. Miranda 
Ronald Rudolf C. Molina 
Isadora A. Papica 
Saturnino G. Pajarillo, Jr. 

 
 
I.    NATIONAL ANTHEM AND INVOCATION 
 

 The Corporate Secretary, Atty. Virgilio S. Jacinto, requested everyone to 
rise for the singing of the National Anthem and to remain standing for the 
invocation to be led by Ms. Cynthia M. Baroy, Chief Finance Officer of the 
Company. 
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Before the Meeting formally started, President Ramon S. Ang, on behalf 
of the Board of Directors, officers and employees of the Company, extended 
their heartfelt condolences to the family of the Company’s beloved Chairman 

and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Eduardo M. Cojuangco, Jr., who passed away 
on the evening of June 16, 2020.  He also extended deepest gratitude and 
sincerest appreciation to the Chairman for his invaluable service and 
contribution to the Board and the Company. Thereafter, a moment of silence  

was observed to pray for Chairman Cojuangco. 
 
 
II.   CALL TO ORDER/CERTIFICATION ON NOTICE AND QUORUM 
  

The President, Mr. Ramon S. Ang, presided and called the meeting to 
order.  Atty. Jacinto recorded the minutes of the proceedings.  
  

Atty. Jacinto confirmed that notices were duly sent to the stockholders of 
record of the Company and that there was a quorum for the meeting.   

 
He notified the assembly that there were present in the meeting based on 

the proxy and ballots emailed to the Corporate Secretary and which validated 
with the assistance of the Company’s stock transfer agent, SMC Stock Transfer 

Service Corporation, about 87.36% of the common shares of stocks and 100.0% 
of the preferred shares of stocks of the Company, or about 88.66% of the 
outstanding capital stock of the Company.  Atty. Jacinto confirmed, for the 
record, proxies covering 88.66% of the outstanding capital stock of the 
Company were issued in favor of and held by President Ramon S. Ang, 

authorizing him to vote for the election of directors and the approval of all 
corporate acts that required the conformity of the stockholders as provided in 
the agenda of the Meeting. Finally, he stated that voting shall be made in 
accordance with the procedure set forth in the Information Statement that has 
been made available in the Company’s website and in the PSE Edge.  

 
Atty. Jacinto acknowledged the attendance of the following directors, 

namely:  
 

1. Francisco S. Alejo III 
2. Aurora T. Calderon 
3. Leo S. Alvez 
4. Gabriel S. Claudio 
5. Mario K. Surio 

6. Minita V. Chico-Nazario – Independent Director 
7. Aurora S. Lagman – Independent Director 
 
He also acknowledged the attendance of the Company’s officers led by its 

General Manager, Mr. Emmanuel B. Macalalag and its Chief Finance Officer, 
Ms. Cynthia M. Baroy.  The presence of the representative of R.G. Manabat & 
Co., the Company’s external auditor for 2019, was also acknowledged. 

 
Atty. Jacinto advised the stockholders that an open forum will follow the 

presentation of the Annual Report for 2019.  He also informed the assembly 
that question sent to the Company’s dedicated email address for the meeting 
will be entertained while question not answered during the Meeting will be 
replied to by the Office of the Corporate Secretary. 
 

 
III.     APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE REGULAR 

STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING ON MAY 30, 2019  
  

The President presented the first item in the agenda which was the 
approval of the Minutes of the Regular Stockholders’ Meeting held on May 30, 
2019. He informed the stockholders that a copy of the draft Minutes is attached 
to the Information Statement and posted in the Company’s website .   
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On motion duly made and seconded and there being no objection, the 
following resolution was approved by the stockholders present and/or 
represented: 

 
Resolution No. 2020-06-23-01 

 
“RESOLVED, that the Minutes of the Regular Stockholders’ 

Meeting of Ginebra San Miguel Inc. held on May 30, 2019, be 
approved.” 

 
 
IV. PRESENTATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT 

 The President proceeded to the next item in the agenda. He requested the 
General Manager of the Company, Mr. Emmanuel B. Macalalag, to present the 
Annual Report for 2019.   
 

Mr. Macalalag presented to the stockholders the Company’s Annual 
Report for 2019.  A copy of his report is attached as Annex “A”.    
 

During the open forum, the following written questions were raised and 

answered by President Ang as follows: 
 
Ms. Lucy Claire Lim from Novaliches, Quezon City   
“Given the COVID-19 situation, how did the Company perform in the first quarter 
of 2020 and what is the outlook for the rest of the year?” 

 
Mr. Ang replied that for the first two (2) months of 2020, the Company 

was doing very good but then because of the lockdown, the last fifteen (15) days 
of the first quarter affected the Company’s first quarter earnings compared to 
last year. He added the Company’s first quarter earnings is about 474 million 

pesos or about 23% lower than last year.  He concluded that while the  2nd 
quarter performance  was the one mostly affected by the COVID-19 situation, 
the Company is confident that for the full year it will still have a strong income, 
though a bit lower than last year. 

 
Mr. Melvin Gomez from Manila City 
“Ano po ang epekto ng kasalukuyang pandemic sa kakayanan ng kumpanya 
para makapagbigay ng dibidendo?” 

 

According to Mr. Ang since the Company is still earning, it will still be 
declaring dividends.  He noted that during hard times like this, hard liquor 
sales is better than beer and he thinks Ginebra will be okay for the whole year 
of 2020 and that it will be able to declare dividends. 

 
As there were no other questions, a stockholder moved to close the open 

forum, approve and ratify the Annual Report for 2019, as presented.   
 

On motion duly made and seconded, and there being no objection, the 

following resolution was approved by the stockholders present and/or 
represented: 
 

Resolution No. 2020-06-23-02 
 

“RESOLVED, that the open forum of stockholders be closed 
and that the Annual Report for 2019, as presented, be approved.” 

 
 

V.  RATIFICATION OF ALL ACTS AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE CORPORATE OFFICER 
 

 The President proceeded to the next item in the agenda, which was the  
ratification of all acts and proceedings of the Board of Directors and Corporate 
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Officers since the Regular Stockholders' Meeting held on May 30, 2019 until the 
date of this Meeting.  He informed the assembly that the list of the acts and 
proceedings for ratification was shown on the screen for reference . 

 
On motion duly made and seconded, and there being no objection, the 

following resolution was approved by the stockholders present and/or 
represented: 

 
Resolution No. 2020-06-23-03 

 
“RESOLVED, that all acts, resolutions, and proceedings of 

the Board of Directors and Corporate Officers of the Company 

since the Regular Meeting of the Stockholders held on May 30, 
2019 until the date of this meeting, as reflected in the minutes of 
the meetings of the Board of Directors, as well as financial 
statements and records of the Company be approved, confirmed 
and ratified.”  

   
  

VI. ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 
 

 Mr. Ang requested Atty. Jacinto to read the names of the nominees for 
election to the Board of Directors of the Company for 2020. 
 
 Atty. Jacinto informed the assembly that the qualifications of the 
nominees were evaluated and favorably recommended to the Board by the 

Corporate Governance Committee during its meeting held on March 11, 2020.  
He added that the names of the nominees were included in the Information 
Statement.  In light of the untimely demise of Mr. Eduardo M. Cojuangco, Jr., 
the remaining nominees are the following, namely: 
 

1. Mr. Ramon S. Ang 
2. Mr. Francisco S. Alejo III 
3. Ms. Aurora T. Calderon 
4. Mr. Leo S. Alvez 

5. Mr. Gabriel S. Claudio 
6. Mr. Mario K. Surio 
7. Ms. Minita V. Chico-Nazario – Independent Director 
8. Ms. Aurora S. Lagman – Independent Director 

     

Mr. Ang also informed the stockholders that in compliance with the 
mandatory requirement of the Securities and Exchange Commission in electing 
Independent Directors, the nominees for election as Independent Directors, who 
are Minita V. Chico-Nazario and Aurora S. Lagman, were disclosed in the 

Information Statement of the Company. 
 
A stockholder moved that balloting be dispensed with and that all the 

eight (8) nominees be considered unanimously elected as Directors of the 
Company. The motion having been duly made and seconded, and there being 

no objection, the following resolution was approved by the stockholders present 
and/or presented: 

  
Resolution No. 2020-06-23-04 

 

“RESOLVED, that balloting be dispensed with and the 
nominees presented earlier be considered unanimously elected as 
Directors of the Company.” 

 

The President, on behalf of Management, welcomed the newly-elected 
Directors of the Company.  He also thanked the stockholders for their trust and 
confidence. 
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VII. APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR 
 
The President proceeded to the next item in the agenda, which was the  

appointment of External Auditor and requested Director Minita V. Chico-
Nazario, Independent Director and Chairman of the Audit and Risk Oversight 
Committee, to present the recommendation of the said Committee on the 
matter. 

 
Director Chico-Nazario informed the stockholders that after deliberation 

and evaluation of the Audit and Risk Committee during its meeting on March 
11, 2020, the Committee favorably recommends the reappointment of the 
auditing firm of R.G Manabat & Co. as the External Auditor of the Company for 

the fiscal year 2020. 
 

On motion duly made and seconded, and there being no objection, the 
following resolution was approved by the stockholders present and/or 
represented: 

Resolution No. 2020-06-23-05 
 
 “RESOLVED, that the auditing firm of R.G. Manabat & Co. 
be designated as External Auditor of the Company for the fiscal 

year 2020.” 
 
 
VIII. ADJOURNMENT 
  

 The President asked if there were any other matters or business that the  
stockholders intend to present to the assembly. 
 
 On motion duly made and seconded and there being no objection, the 
following resolution was approved by the stockholders present and/or 

represented: 
 

Resolution No. 2020-06-23-06 
 

“RESOLVED, that the 2020 Regular Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting of the Company be adjourned.” 

 
 
 A copy of the voting results is attached as Annex “B”. 

 
 

ATTESTED BY: 
 

 
 

RAMON S. ANG 
President 

 

 
 

VIRGILIO S. JACINTO 
Corporate Secretary 
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 Annex “A” 
 
 

2019 ANNUAL REPORT TO THE STOCKHOLDERS 
 
 
Fellow stockholders, ladies and gentlemen, good afternoon. 

 
It’s not the best of times to meet. While our country, along with the rest of the  
world, continues to grapple with the Covid-19 pandemic, our company is also 
mourning the passing of our Chairman, Amb. Eduardo M. Cojuangco Jr.  Mr. 
Cojuangco has guided San Miguel Corporation, and particularly, we are proud 

to say, Ginebra San Miguel, for so many years. The  entire Ginebra family is 
deeply saddened by his passing.  
 
Even as we mourn, we wish to acknowledge too, the efforts of our SMC 
management to respond to this public health crisis that’s upended our lives.  

 
Ginebra San Miguel is perhaps the first company in the Philippines to 
reconfigure its operations and redirect its resources to supporting the fight 
against Covid-19. We are so proud of that. By shifting our operations from 

liquor manufacturing to the production of 70% ethyl alcohol, the San Miguel 
Group has been able to donate 1.3 million liters of alcohol to hospitals, parishes 
and local government units nationwide. It’s been our privilege serve our country 
in its time of need.  
 

Let us now proceed to our report.  
 
In 2019, our efforts to expand our distribution network, combined with strong, 
consistent marketing communication, delivered for us a record year and a new 
sales volume milestone: 35.9 million cases, 14% higher than the previous year, 

and our highest in nine years. 
 
One of the true strengths of brand Ginebra San Miguel--apart from attributes 
such as taste, quality, and heritage—has always been its ability to connect 

with, it’s consumers. We continue to nurture and evolve this bond through 
marketing campaigns that happily, have hit the mark.  
 
In 2019, our thematic campaign “Pilipino Ako. Ginebra Ako”, further 
strengthened our core drinkers’ affinity with the brand, while at the same time 

broadening its appeal to a wider market.  As a result, sales volume for our 
flagship Ginebra San Miguel rose 13% from the prior year.  
 
Vino Kulafu also continued to register robust gains. The brand’s thematic 

campaign, “Lakas sa Magandang Bukas”, combined with an under-the-cap 
consumer promo and on-ground activations in select territories in Visayas and 
Mindanao, pushed volumes up 8% versus 2018. 
 
GSM Blue had an amazing 2019, breaching the million-case mark on the back 

of a 62% volume increase from year-ago levels. Better distribution, ad 
campaigns targeting younger consumers, and sampling activities, helped 
sustain the brand’s popularity and visibility. 
 
Measures to improve efficiency were also implemented throughout various areas 

of our supply chain. We continue to benefit from broadening our sourcing of 
molasses and alcohol. Process innovation at our distillery, which improved 
yields; and the efficient running of our bottling plants, kept production costs 
down, despite higher molasses prices, thereby leading to better margins.  

 
Following strong sales volumes, consolidated revenues for 2019 grew 17% over 
the previous year to Php 29 billion. Gross contribution increased 23% to Php 
8.1 billion and income from operations rose to Php 2.9 billion. Net Income 
ended at Php1.67 billion, 59% higher than in 2018—the highest since 2005.   
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We started 2020 strong, with a new thematic campaign, “One Ginebra Nation”. 
However, our operations ground to a halt as soon as the Enhanced Community 

Quarantine (ECQ) and subsequent liquor bans were declared.   
 
As a result, volumes for the first three months of the year fell 14% compared to 
the same period last year. First quarter consolidated revenues of Php 7.45 

billion and gross contribution of Php 1.8 billion, were both lower than in the 
previous year. Income from operations of Php 686 million was down 30%, but 
bottom line remained positive at Php 474 million, though 23% lower from the  
year before. 
 

With many cities and provinces in the country already lifting ECQ and their 
liquor ban, we’ve moved quickly to revive our selling operations, replenishing 
our products in trade.  We’ve seen definite signs of a recovery with regards to 
sales volumes, and the coronavirus notwithstanding, we’re cautiously optimistic 
about our outlook for this year. While the crisis is still evolving, bringing with it 

so many uncertainties, we’re confident that our strong customer relationships, 
deep consumer insights and the strength of our brands will carry us through. 
Our employees rallied together magnificently in the crisis and I couldn’t be 
prouder to be counted among them. Our employees exemplify the true spirit of 

One Ginebra Nation.   
 
Thank you, fellow stockholders, for your trust and support for our company. 
Maraming salamat po at isang magandang hapon po sa inyong lahat.   
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



sspx045                           Ginebra San Miguel Inc.                        PAGE      1
2020−06−19                          PROXY VOTING MODULE
04:19:14 PM            Stockholders’ Meeting Vote Canvassing Results
___________________________________________________________________________________________

     NOM. NO.                      NOMINEE                              VOTES
     −−−−−−−− −−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−− −−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
            1 EDUARDO M. COJUANGCO, JR.                                   282,217,583
            2 RAMON S. ANG                                                281,167,501
            3 FRANCISCO S. ALEJO III                                      281,167,501
            4 LEO S. ALVEZ                                                281,272,034
            5 AURORA T. CALDERON                                          281,167,501
            6 GABRIEL S. CLAUDIO                                          281,167,501
            7 MARIO K. SURIO                                              281,272,034
            8 MINITA V. CHICO−NAZARIO                                     282,762,579
            9 AURORA S. LAGMAN                                            282,706,509

     Total votes registered                                             2,546,215,128
     Total votes counted for election of board nominees                 2,534,900,743
     Total uncast votes for election of board nominees                     11,314,385

___________________________________________________________________________________________

                                                                                    % TO
RES. NO.                     RESOLUTION                         SHARES VOTED     TOTAL O.S.
−−−−−−−− −−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−− −−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−− −−−−−−−−−

       2 Approval of the Minutes of the Regular                      282,912,792    88.656%
         Stockholders’ Meeting held on May 30, 2019

         For                        282,912,792 −   88.656%
         Against                              0 −    0.000%
         Abstain                              0 −    0.000%

       3 Presentation of the Annual Report of the Company            282,912,792    88.656%
         for the year ended December 31, 2019

         For                        282,843,252 −   88.634%
         Against                              0 −    0.000%
         Abstain                         69,540 −    0.022%

       4 Ratification of Acts and Proceedings of the Board           282,912,792    88.656%
         of Directors and Corporate Officers

         For                        282,808,022 −   88.623%
         Against                              0 −    0.000%
         Abstain                        104,770 −    0.033%

       5 Appointment of R.G. Manabat & Co. as External               282,912,792    88.656%
         Auditor of the Company for 2020

         For                        282,912,792 −   88.656%
         Against                              0 −    0.000%
         Abstain                              0 −    0.000%
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sspx045                           Ginebra San Miguel Inc.                        PAGE      2
2020−06−19                          PROXY VOTING MODULE
04:19:14 PM            Stockholders’ Meeting Vote Canvassing Results
___________________________________________________________________________________________

                                                                                     % TO
                                 SUMMARY REPORT                                   TOTAL O.S.
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−− −−−−−−−−−−
OUTSTANDING COMMON SHARES                                             286,327,841
OUTSTANDING PREFERRED SHARES                                           32,786,885
                                                                −−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
TOTAL OUTSTANDING SHARES AS OF RECORD DATE                            319,114,726

TOTAL SHARES IN ATTENDANCE :
  Attending proxy assignees                                           281,613,650
  Attending stockholders                                                1,299,142
                                                                −−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−− −−−−−−−−−−
                                                                      282,912,792    88.656%
LESS :
  Invalidated / knocked−off / Uncast shares − Proxy Assignees                   0
  Knock−off by attending stockholder                                            0
  Invalidated shares − Stockholders                                             0
  Uncast shares of stockholders                                                 0
                                                                −−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−− −−−−−−−−−−
TOTAL SHARES/VOTES COUNTED                                            282,912,792    88.656%
                                                                ================= ==========
NOTE:

Total no. of stockholders in attendance                                         4
Total no. of stockholder with ballots                                           4

                                   *** END OF REPORT ***
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2021 2020
Unaudited  Audited 

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents P4,270,852 P2,819,574
Trade and other receivables - net 874,365                  953,698           
Inventories 5,155,270               5,946,809        
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,376,129               1,154,046        

Total Current Assets 11,676,616             10,874,127      

Noncurrent Assets
Investments in joint ventures -                            4,451               
Property, plant and equipment - net  4,098,032               4,221,595        
Right-of-use assets - net 138,354                  156,597           
Goodwill 126,863                  126,863           
Deferred tax assets - net 440,467                  582,807           
Other noncurrent assets - net 80,320                    87,606             

Total Noncurrent Assets 4,884,036               5,179,919        

P16,560,652 P16,054,046

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses P5,452,927 P5,146,148
Income and other taxes payable 659,533                  377,018           
Current maturities of long-term debt - net of

debt issue costs 165,417                  165,417           
Lease liabilities - current portion 33,195                    31,724             

Total Current Liabilities 6,311,072               5,720,307        

Noncurrent Liabilities
Retirement liabilities 412,706                  404,797           
Long-term debt - net of debt of issue costs 331,155                  330,847           
Lease liabilities - net of current portion 116,731                  146,036           

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 860,592                  881,680           

Total Liabilities 7,171,664               6,601,987        

Equity
Capital stock 399,063                  399,063           
Additional paid-in capital 2,539,454               2,539,454        
Equity reserves (433,570)                 (400,215)          
Retained earnings:

Appropriated 2,500,000               2,500,000        
Unappropriated 8,054,014               7,083,730        

Treasury stock (3,669,973)              (2,669,973)       
Total Equity 9,388,988               9,452,059        

P16,560,652 P16,054,046

See accompanying Management Discussion and Analysis and Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

 GINEBRA SAN MIGUEL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

VP and Chief Finance Officer
CYNTHIA M. BAROY

CERTIFIED CORRECT:

 (In Thousands)
MARCH 31, 2021 AND DECEMBER 31, 2020

 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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2021 2020
Unaudited Unaudited

SALES P11,338,436 P7,452,478

COST OF SALES 8,693,482          5,539,982        

GROSS PROFIT 2,644,954          1,912,496        

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES (744,900)           (674,283)          

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES (610,298)           (552,534)          

INTEREST EXPENSE AND OTHER FINANCING CHARGES (10,349)             (33,624)            

GAIN (LOSS) ON DISPOSAL / RETIREMENT OF 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 251                    (649)                 

 
INTEREST INCOME 9,384                 1,199               

OTHER INCOME - Net 75,783               35,378             

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 1,364,825          687,983           

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 322,412             213,630           

NET INCOME P1,042,413 P474,353

Basic and diluted earnings per share P3.64 P1.61

See accompanying Management Discussion and Analysis and Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)
FOR THE PERIODS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
  GINEBRA SAN MIGUEL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

VP and Chief Finance Officer
CYNTHIA M. BAROY

CERTIFIED CORRECT:



2021 2020
Unaudited Unaudited

NET INCOME P1,042,413 P474,353

Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Share in other comprehensive loss of joint ventures (4,451)           (41,199)         

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Equity reserve for retirement plan -                -                
Income tax expense (28,904)         -                

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (33,355)         (41,199)         

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - Net of tax P1,009,058 P433,154

See accompanying Management Discussion and Analysis and Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

VP and Chief Finance Officer
CYNTHIA M. BAROY

CERTIFIED CORRECT:

(In Thousands)
FOR THE PERIODS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
GINEBRA SAN MIGUEL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES



Common Preferred Appropriated Unappropriated Common Preferred Total
As of  January 1, 2021  (Audited) P345,625 P53,438 P2,539,454 (P404,666) P4,451 P2,500,000 P7,083,730 (P1,947,198) (P722,775) P9,452,059
Share in other comprehensive income of joint ventures -              -               -                -                (4,451)          -                   -                   -                  -                  (4,451)            
Equity reserve for retirement plan -              -               -                (28,904)         -               -                   -                   -                  -                  (28,904)          
Net income -              -               -                -                -               -                   1,042,413        -                  -                  1,042,413      
Total comprehensive income for the period -              -               -                (28,904)         (4,451)          -                   1,042,413        -                  -                  1,009,058      
Redemption of preferred shares -              -               -                -                -               -                   -                   -                  (1,000,000)     (1,000,000)     
Cash dividends and distributions:

Common -              -               -                -                -               -                   (71,582)            -                  -                  (71,582)          
Preferred -              -               -                -                -               -                   (547)                 -                  -                  (547)               

As of March 31, 2021 (Unaudited) P345,625 P53,438 P2,539,454 (P433,570) P     -    P2,500,000 P8,054,014 (P1,947,198) (P1,722,775) P9,388,988

As of  January 1, 2020  (Audited) P345,625 P53,438 P2,539,454 (P369,433) P57,963 P2,500,000 P4,662,727 (P1,947,198) (P722,775) P7,119,801

Share in other comprehensive income of joint ventures -              -               -                -                (41,199)        -                   -                   -                  -                  (41,199)          
Net income -              -               -                -                -               -                   474,353           -                  -                  474,353         

Total comprehensive income for the period -              -               -                -                (41,199)        -                   474,353           -                  -                  433,154         

Cash dividends and distributions:
Common -              -               -                -                -               -                   (71,582)            -                  -                  (71,582)          
Preferred -              -               -                -                -               -                   (12,295)            -                  -                  (12,295)          

Total cash dividends and distributions -              -               -                -                -               -                   (83,877)            -                  -                  (83,877)          

As of March 31, 2020 (Unaudited) P345,625 P53,438 P2,539,454 (P369,433) P16,764 P2,500,000 P5,053,203 (P1,947,198) (P722,775) P7,469,078

See accompanying Management Discussion and Analysis and Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

VP and Chief Finance Officer

Capital Stock
 Additional 

Paid-in 
Capital 

Retained Earnings
 Cumulative 
Translation 

Adjustments 

 Reserve for 
Retirement 

Plan 
Treasury Stocks

CERTIFIED CORRECT:

(In Thousands)
FOR THE PERIODS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GINEBRA SAN MIGUEL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CYNTHIA M. BAROY

Equity Reserves



2021 2020
Unaudited Unaudited

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax P1,364,825 P687,983
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 171,875              180,233              
Retirement expense 22,371                21,256                
Interest expense and other financing charges 10,349                33,624                
Provision for doubtful accounts -                      38,700                
Net unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) (47)                      105                     
Loss (Gain) on disposal / retirement of property

 and equipment - net (251)                    649                     
Interest income (9,384)                 (1,199)                 
Net derivative gain (14,297)              (4,193)                 

Operating income before working capital changes 1,545,441           957,158              
Decrease (increase) in:

Trade and other receivables 81,218                236,664              
Inventories 791,636              539,153              
Prepaid taxes and other current assets (338,459)            (278,059)            

Increase (decrease) in:
Trade and other payables 312,173              151,708              
Other taxes payable 192,342              (52,741)              

Cash generated from operations 2,584,351           1,553,883           
Interest received 7,503                  1,210                  
Income taxes paid (2,001)                 (247)                    
Interest and other financing charges paid (7,489)                 (29,096)              
Contribution to retirement plan (14,462)              (1,999)                 
Net cash flows provided by operating activities 2,567,902           1,523,751           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to property, plant and equipment (26,066)              (60,235)              
Decrease (increase) in other noncurrent assets (3,956)                 (22)                      
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 307                     171                     
Net cash flows used in investing activities (29,715)              (60,086)              

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from short-term borrowings -                      1,056,000           
Payments of:

Short-term borrowings                 - (1,519,000)         
Long-term borrowings                 - (58,824)              
Lease liabilities (14,826)              (21,184)              
Cash dividends (72,128)              (2)                        

Redemption of preferred shares (1,000,000)         -                      
Net cash flows used in financing activities (1,086,954)         (543,010)            

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 45                       (27)                      

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,451,278           920,628              

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,819,574           354,131              

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF PERIOD P4,270,852 P1,274,759

See accompanying Management Discussion and Analysis and  Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(In Thousands)
FOR THE PERIODS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
GINEBRA SAN MIGUEL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

VP and Chief Finance Officer
CYNTHIA M. BAROY

CERTIFIED CORRECT:
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